Published for SISSA by O Springer

RECEIVED: April 26, 2018 ACCEPTED: May 14, 2018 PUBLISHED: May 23, 2018

Type-B formal higher spin gravity

Maxim Grigoriev^{*a,b*} and Evgeny Skvortsov^{*c,b*}

^bLebedev Institute of Physics,

^cAlbert Einstein Institute, Am Mühlenberg 1, D-14476, Potsdam-Golm, Germany

E-mail: grig@lpi.ru, evgeny.skvortsov@aei.mpg.de

ABSTRACT: We propose non-linear equations for the formal Type-B Higher Spin Gravity that is dual to the free fermion or to the Gross-Neveu model, depending on the boundary conditions. The equations are directly obtained from the first principles: the gauge invariance of the CFT partition function on an arbitrary background for single-trace operators. We also get equations describing propagation of certain mixed-symmetry fields over higher spin flat backgrounds.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Field Theories in Higher Dimensions, Higher Spin Symmetry, BRST Quantization

ARXIV EPRINT: 1804.03196



^a Arnold Sommerfeld Center for Theoretical Physics, Ludwig-Maximilians University Munich, Theresienstr. 37, D-80333 Munich, Germany

Leninsky ave. 53, 119991 Moscow, Russia

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Fermion on higher spin background	5
3	Ambient space approach	9
	3.1 Fermion in ambient space	9
	3.2 Background fields in ambient space	11
4	Type-B theory at free level	13
	4.1 Ambient space description	13
5	Type-B theory	15
	5.1 Off-shell system	17
	5.2 On-shell system	20
	5.3 Functional class	21
	5.4 Higher spin flat backgrounds	22
	5.5 Boundary values and holographic reconstruction	23
6	Unfolded form and Hochschild cocycle	24
	6.1 FDA over AdS background	25
	6.2 FDA over higher spin flat background	26
7	Conclusions and discussion	29
A	Going to symmetric base	31

1 Introduction

Higher Spin Gravities are theories featuring massless fields with spin greater than two on top of the spin-two graviton. When considered on AdS background the masslessness of the bulk fields implies [1–3] that the AdS/CFT dual operators are conserved tensors, which in d > 2 is a clear signature of free CFT's [4–7]. On general grounds it is expected that any free CFT should have a higher spin dual. The dual is then a theory that computes correlation functions of single-trace operators on the CFT side as Witten diagrams on the AdS side. The problem we address in the paper is how to reconstruct the dual higher spin gravity given some free CFT. Solving this problem also gives an access to more interesting dualities that can be obtained by imposing different boundary conditions, see e.g. [3, 8–12].

One special feature of free CFT's is that the global conformal symmetry gets extended to the global infinite-dimensional higher spin symmetry. The operators of interest for higher spin AdS/CFT are various bilinears, single-trace operators, most of which are conserved tensors responsible for the higher spin symmetry. It turns out that the higher spin symmetry is powerful enough as to fix unambiguously the correlators of the single-trace operators [4–7]. The single-trace operators are dual to the fields of a higher spin gravity. Bearing in mind the conceptual simplicity of the higher spin AdS/CFT duality, it would be important to directly map any given free CFT data to a higher spin gravity.

The key observation is that the unambiguity of the generating functional of correlators can also be understood by turning on sources for the single-trace operators and studying gauge invariance of the partition function as a functional of these sources as those that couple to conserved tensors are gauge fields. The gauge symmetries of the sources encode Ward identities of the higher spin symmetry. Therefore, the unambiguity of the correlators can be understood from a purely classical theory of background fields: the infinite-dimensional non-abelian gauge symmetry of sources completely fixes the effective action. It is worth stressing that this phenomenon takes place only for CFT's with higher spin symmetry. In the usual low spin case, for instance, the generating functional W[g] of stress-tensor correlation functions should be invariant under diffeomorphisms and (up to an anomaly) under Weyl rescalings, which does not allow one to reconstruct W[g] in d > 2. On the contrary, knowing the non-abelian symmetries of the higher spin sources h_s , $s = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$, allows one to reconstruct $W[h_s]$, which is then can be seen to be a generating functional of single-trace operators of a free CFT.

Our strategy is to explore the theory of higher spin background fields. We first show how to put a CFT on an arbitrary higher spin background while preserving the invariance of the partition function (effective action for background fields) and then uplift the theory of background fields to AdS_{d+1} where these background fields turn into boundary values. As different from other approaches, no perturbative expansion of any kind is needed, the theory is reconstructed in one shot. This strategy has already been applied in [13] to the simplest higher spin gravity, Type-A, which was reconstructed from the free scalar CFT.¹ Historically, the 4d Type-A theory was originally proposed by Vasiliev [18–20] as intrinsically AdS theory before AdS/CFT era began [21–23].

In the present paper we strengthen the universality of the method, its relation to background fields² on the CFT side and apply it to reconstruct the Type-B higher spin gravity that is a dual of the free fermion CFT. Upon changing the boundary conditions, the same theory should also be dual to the Gross-Neveu model, where higher spin symmetry is broken by 1/N effects, [9, 10].

In slightly more detail, the general higher spin AdS/CFT story for any free vectorial CFT is as follows. Let us discuss the case of the free scalar CFT. Given a free conformal field ϕ , $\Box \phi = 0$, one can detect an infinite-dimensional extension of the conformal symmetry, the higher spin symmetry, by constructing higher rank conserved tensors:

$$J_s \equiv J_{a_1...a_s} = \bar{\phi}\partial_{a_1}\dots\partial_{a_s}\phi + \text{more terms to ensure conservation}, \qquad (1.1)$$

¹It is also worth mentioning somewhat implicit proposal [14] of the AdS dual of higher order nonunitary scalar CFT, $\Box^k \phi = 0$, as well as the general framework developed in [15–17].

 $^{^{2}}$ By the theory of background fields we mean non-infinitesimal sources together with gauge symmetries thereof that make the effective action gauge invariant.

where the stress-tensor is $J_{s=2}$. The conserved tensors J_s , via Noether theorem, give rise to higher spin algebra transformations $\delta\phi$ that are various differential operators with polynomial coefficients that map solutions $\Box\phi = 0$ to solutions, the conformal transformations being represented by operators with no more than one derivative [24, 25]. Together with $J_0 = \bar{\phi}\phi$, higher spin currents J_s make a full list of single-trace operators. Therefore, the AdS dual description should feature one scalar field dual to J_0 and gauge fields dual to $J_{s>0}$. Sources for J_s are conformal higher spin fields $h^s \equiv h^{a_1...a_s}(x)$ subject to the gauge transformations

$$\delta h^{a_1 \dots a_s} = \partial^{a_1} \xi^{a_2 \dots a_s} + \text{permutations} + \text{higher orders}, \qquad (1.2)$$

reflecting the conservation of $J_{s>0}$. The nontrivial problem is to extend $h^{a_1...a_s}$ beyond the infinitesimal level and promote them to background fields. This requires counterterms of the form $h^2 \bar{\phi} \phi$ and higher as well as corrections to the gauge transformations (1.2) that are of order $h\xi$ and higher. A priori it is not obvious how to tackle this problem for higher spin background fields.

For example, in the lower spin case, the source for the global symmetry current, say u(M), would be vector potential $\delta A_c = \partial_c \xi$ and, as is well-known, one has to add the counterterm $A^2 \bar{\phi} \phi$ coming from $D_A \bar{\phi} D_A \phi$ in order to make the effective action W[A] gauge invariant, while the gauge transformations should be extended to $\delta A_c = \partial_c \xi + [A_c, \xi]$. Similarly, coupling to conformal metric $T_{ab}g^{ab}$ entails an infinite number of counterterms that can be resummed to the usual kinetic term $\sqrt{g}\partial\bar{\phi}\partial\phi$ and $\sqrt{g}R\bar{\phi}\phi$. These two examples correspond to the s = 1, 2 sources h^s and are particular cases of the problem on how to promote all of the h^s to background fields. The final result contains counterterms of all orders $(h)^k \bar{\phi}\phi$ in the background fields and corrections to the gauge transformations (1.2) of all orders as well.

The first part of the problem on how to couple to a higher spin background was solved in [26] (see also [27–29]). It turns out that all the counterterms can be resummed and the CFT partition function with sources for the single-trace operators turned on is simply

$$e^{W[H]} = \int D\phi \, D\bar{\phi} \, e^{-\int \bar{\phi} H\phi} \,, \qquad \qquad W[H] = -\mathrm{tr} \log H \,, \qquad (1.3)$$

where an advantage has been taken of the fact that the terms $h^{a_1...a_s}(x)J_{a_1...a_s}$ can be represented as some operators sandwiched in between $\bar{\phi}$, ϕ and then they can be combined with the kinetic term $-\partial^2$ as to form certain operator H. For infinitesimal sources W[H] can be expanded over $-\partial^2$ as to give the expected generating functional of currents J_s . When written as (1.3) the functional is clearly invariant for non-infinitesimal sources, i.e. when $h^{a_1...a_s}$ represent a non-trivial higher spin background. The transformations for $h^{a_1...a_s}$ can be read off from naive³ gauge symmetries of the action $\int \bar{\phi} H \phi$: $\delta \phi = -U\phi$ and $\delta H = HU + U^{\dagger}H$, where U is any operator in x and ∂ .

The seeming simplicity of the solution is deceptive, the devil being in how to relate the components of H to the background fields $h^{a_1...a_s}$. For example, it takes a non-linear

³In even dimensions $W[h^s]$ has a local part, the (higher spin) conformal anomaly, [26, 27].

redefinition to recover $\sqrt{g}R\bar{\phi}\phi$. Nevertheless, that the theory of background fields, i.e. H with its gauge transformations, is known is sufficient for our purposes.

Dual higher spin gravity is supposed to provide another way to compute the effective action $W[h^s]$. The fundamental fields of the higher spin theory are bulk fields whose boundary values correspond to h^s . As it has already been stressed, the special feature of higher spin symmetry is that the infinite-dimensional non-abelian gauge symmetries of background fields h^s unambiguously fix $W[h^s]$. The global higher spin symmetry of a free CFT should become gauge symmetry of its bulk dual. The gauge symmetries of h^s are closely related to those of the dual theory: at the very least the near boundary analysis of the dual theory should reveal the same h^s . In fact, our basic conclusion is that they are the same: the dual theory at the classical level can be extracted directly from the gauge symmetries of h^s .

There are three technical steps that allow us to make the general ideas above more precise. Firstly, we uplift a given free CFT to the ambient space $\mathbb{R}^{d,2}$ where the conformal space is embedded as projective cone, $X^2 = 0$, $X \sim \lambda X$, $\lambda > 0$. The advantage is that the conformal symmetry is now manifest. Secondly, the theory of background higher spin fields can also be uplifted to the ambient space. For the case of a free scalar field, a theory of background fields turns out to be equivalent to three first class constraints on the ambient space that form sp(2). This is the same sp(2) that underlies the Fefferman-Graham construction [30, 31]. The third and the main step is that the same constrained system can be considered on the hyperboloid $X^2 = -1$, where it can be shown to describe an appropriate multiplet of higher spin fields.

These steps are performed using the combination of various techniques: a version [16, 32, 33] of the conventional ambient space formalism, parent formulation method which allows to implement ambient construction in the fiber rather than in spacetime [15, 34], and the approach to boundary values employing both the ambient and the parent techniques [14, 17].

Our main goal in the present paper is to show that the same reasoning works fine for the underlying free CFT being a Dirac fermion. The higher spin dual of the free fermion vector model in any d has been already dubbed Type-B in the literature [9], even though the model has not yet been constructed in any detail in d > 3. The single-trace operators and thereby the background fields reveal a trickier pattern: tensors with mixedsymmetry show up. While totally-symmetric higher spin fields relevant for the Type-A duality have been thoroughly studied, mixed-symmetry fields resisted so far any attempt to introduce interactions. In particular, there have been no results on Type-B theory.⁴ The main statements are: (i) theory of background fields for the singe-trace operators in the free fermion model can be described as osp(1|2) constraints on ambient phase space;⁵ (ii) on the hyperboloid $X^2 = -1$ this system gives formally consistent and gauge invariant equations; (iii) when linearized over AdS_{d+1} the equations describe the right spectrum of massless and massive fields; (iv) over the maximally symmetric, higher spin flat, backgrounds we

 $^{^{4}}$ See, however, [35-38] for some one-loop determinants and [39-42] for some cubic interactions.

 $^{{}^{5}}osp(1|2)$ constraints in ambient space were also considered in [43] in somewhat similar context.

show that the first order corrections yield the expected Hochschild cocycle of the higher spin algebra, which is the only non-trivial data that goes beyond the higher spin algebra itself. This also gives equations that describe how fields of Type-B theory propagate over any flat background.

The outline of the paper is as follows. In section 2 we describe the theory of background fields for single-trace operators of the free fermion CFT. It is uplifted to the ambient space in section 3. In section 4 we discuss free fields of the Type-B theory in AdS_{d+1} that are dual to the background fields. The proposal for the Type-B theory is in section 5, where its various properties and limits are discussed. The relation to the formal deformations and Hochschild cohomology is discussed in 6. The conclusions and discussion are in section 7.

2 Fermion on higher spin background

As it was briefly explained in the introduction, our strategy is to put a fermion on a nontrivial background in which we turn on sources for all 'single-trace' operators. By single-trace operators we mean all quasi-primary operators that are bilinear in the fermion. Majority of these operators are conserved tensors and for that reason the sources are gauge fields. The latter makes nontrivial a problem of extending infinitesimal sources to background fields. In particular, the linearized gauge symmetry responsible for the conservation of tensors in flat space (trivial background) has to be deformed into some sort of covariant conservation on a higher spin background. Among the background fields there is a usual u(1) gauge field, conformal metric and infinitely many sources for higher spin conserved tensors. The sought for deformed symmetries will have to be infinite-dimensional and non-abelian, mixing sources of different spins. Surprisingly, this problem is very easy to solve, as was proposed in [26] in the case of scalar field, see also [28, 29].

First of all, let us remind that the set of single-trace operators consists of irreducible tensors with the symmetry of hook-shaped Young diagrams, with the indices in the column supplied by gamma-matrices and indices in the row by the space-time derivatives:

$$J_{s,q} \equiv J_{a_1\dots a_s, m_1\dots m_q} = \bar{\psi}\gamma_{a_1m_1\dots m_q}\partial_{a_2}\dots\partial_{a_s}\psi + \dots \qquad J_{s,q} \sim \boxed{q}$$
(2.1)

Here $\gamma^{c_1...c_q}$ are anti-symmetrized products of γ -matrices, $\gamma^a \gamma^b + \gamma^b \gamma^a = 2\eta^{ab}$. Explicit expressions for the currents are rather cumbersome due to the need to maintain Young symmetry, tracelessness and conservation, see e.g. [44–46] for some examples.

Among the currents one finds the totally-symmetric conserved tensors, as the q = 0 case. In addition to conserved tensors there is a number of 'massive' q-forms

$$J_{m_1...m_q} = \psi \gamma_{m_1} \dots \gamma_{m_q} \psi, \qquad q = 0, 2, 3, 4, \dots, \qquad (2.2)$$

that are dual to massive anti-symmetric fields in AdS_{d+1} . Note that all single-trace operators can, in principle, be extracted from a set of bilocal generating functions, see e.g. [45]:

$$\bar{\psi}(x-y)\gamma^{c_1\dots c_q}\psi(x+y)\,. \tag{2.3}$$

This set is over-complete in the sense it contains descendants and redundant operators.

Let us consider a free Dirac fermion ψ and view the equations of motion

$$S_0 = \int \bar{\psi} (i\gamma \cdot \partial_x) \psi \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad i\gamma^a \partial_a \psi = 0 \qquad (2.4)$$

as a physical state condition in the underlying quantum constrained system. The constraints are first class and read

$$-\partial_x \cdot \partial_x, \quad i\gamma \cdot \partial_x, \qquad [i\gamma \cdot \partial_x, i\gamma \cdot \partial_x] = -2\partial_x \cdot \partial_x, \qquad (2.5)$$

where the brackets denote super-commutator, with the Grassmann degree being the standard \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading in the Clifford algebra of γ -matrices, so that in the above relations it is the anti-commutator. The constraints are operators acting in the space of "wave functions" with values in the Dirac spinor representation. Here and below we exploit the analogy between free fields and first-quantized particle models.

Now suppose we would like to add at least infinitesimal sources for all operators (2.1), i.e. couplings of the type

$$S_1 = \sum_{s,q} \int J_{a_1...a_s,c_1...c_q} \left(h^{a_1...a_s,c_1...c_q} + \partial^{a_1} \xi^{a_2...a_s,c_1...c_q} + \text{perm} - \text{traces} \right), \quad (2.6)$$

where we also indicated the desired gauge invariance. Here, the sources $h^{s,q}$ have the same algebraic properties as $J_{s,q}$, i.e. they are traceless and have the Young symmetry depicted in (2.1). Since most of $J_{s,q}$ are conserved tensors (save for (2.2)), the sources $h^{s,q}$ enjoy a gauge symmetry.

At this stage the sources in (2.6) are infinitesimal. If they are not, the currents $J_{s,q}$ are not conserved: the invariance of the effective action W[h] can be restored upon adding appropriate counterterms $\bar{\psi}(h \dots h)\psi$ to S_1 and correcting the gauge symmetry δh by nonlinear terms. This also results in nonlinear deformation of the conservation condition for the currents. As we explained in the Introduction, an elegant way to introduce sources so that the total action $S_0 + S_1$ remains gauge invariant even for non-infinitesimal sources was proposed in [26] in the case of scalar field (see also [29] for a recent discussion of curved backgrounds and nonlinear gauge symmetries). Now we are going to apply the same strategy to the Dirac fermion.

The crucial step is to realize that all derivatives of $\bar{\psi}$ that are hidden in $J_{s,q}$ can be integrated by parts and the coupling can be written in the following suggestive form

$$S_1 = i \int \bar{\psi} f(\gamma, \partial_x | x) \psi , \qquad (2.7)$$

where f is a function of γ and ∂ , whose Taylor coefficient can depend on x:

$$f(\gamma, \partial_x | x) = \sum_{s,q} f^{a_1 \dots a_s | c_1 \dots c_q}(x) \gamma_{c_1 \dots c_q} \partial_{a_1} \dots \partial_{a_s} .$$
(2.8)

Here $f^{s,q}$ are not irreducible tensors anymore. These coefficients are related to the source $h^{s,q}$, but it makes sense not to work at this stage with the operators that are quasiprimary and to extend the base of local bilinear operators to the one covered by generating functions (2.3). It is clear that S_1 encodes the usual lower spin couplings like Yukawa, electro-magnetic and gravitational ones as well as couplings to higher spin sources. In what follows we refer to f as to background fields to stress that they are not required to be infinitesimal.

The full action of the conformal Dirac field coupled to all sources can be written as^6

$$S = S_0 + S_1 = \int d^d x \, \bar{\psi} (i\gamma \cdot \partial_x + i\mathbf{f})\psi \,, \qquad (2.9)$$

where it is useful to absorb the kinetic term into $F = i\gamma \cdot \partial_x + if$.

To describe sources in terms of the constrained system (2.5), we should also allow for a deformation $h = h(\gamma, \partial_x | x)$ of the $-\partial_x^2$ constraint, which can altogether be packed into $H = -\partial_x^2 + h$. In these terms the equations of motion for the Dirac field are identified as physical state conditions:

$$F\psi = (i\gamma \cdot \partial_x + i\mathbf{f})\psi = 0, \qquad \qquad H\psi = (-\partial_x^2 + \mathbf{h})\psi = 0. \qquad (2.10)$$

If we insist that the constraint algebra is unchanged we find

$$[F,F] = 2H \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad 2[\gamma \cdot \partial_x, \mathbf{f}] + [\mathbf{f},\mathbf{f}] = -2\mathbf{h}, \qquad (2.11)$$

so that, as expected, h is determined by f and H does not introduce any new independent sources.

There is a natural gauge symmetry which acts on both ψ and F and leaves the Lagrangian (2.9) unchanged. Indeed, consider

$$\delta F = [\epsilon, F] + \{\alpha, F\} + \{\beta, H\}, \qquad \qquad \delta \psi = \epsilon \psi - \alpha \psi - F \beta \psi, \qquad (2.12)$$

where the three gauge parameters ϵ , α and β are functions of the same type as F, i.e. they depend on γ , ∂_x and x. The reality of the action implies $\epsilon^{\dagger} = -\epsilon$, $\alpha^{\dagger} = \alpha$ and $\beta^{\dagger} = \beta$. The ϵ -symmetry is a usual gauge transformation, while α and β are responsible for reparameterization of the constraints, which we discuss in the next section.

To study gauge symmetry for F, H it is convenient to work in terms of symbols rather than operators. To this end we introduce variables θ^a , p_a associated with γ^a and ∂_a , respectively. The algebra of operators is then the tensor product of Weyl algebra and Clifford algebra. Seen as a \star -product algebra of symbols it can be identified as an algebra freely generated by x^a , p_b , θ^a modulo the following relations:

$$[x^a, p_b]_{\star} = \delta^a_b, \qquad \qquad [\theta^a, \theta^b]_{\star} = 2\eta^{ab}, \qquad (2.13)$$

where $[A, B]_{\star} := A \star B - (-1)^{|A||B|} B \star A$ denotes \star -product super-commutator, with the Grassmann degree assigned according to $|x^a| = |p_a| = 0$ and $|\theta^a| = 1$. The linearized gauge symmetries of f read as

$$\delta \mathbf{f} = -(p \cdot \partial_{\theta} - \theta \cdot \partial_{x})\epsilon + 2\alpha(p \cdot \theta) + 2\beta(p \cdot p) + \dots, \qquad (2.14)$$

where we dropped the terms with derivatives of α and β .

⁶Note that the usual minimal coupling of fermion to gravity, $|e|\bar{\psi}\gamma^a e_a^{\mathbf{m}}(\partial_{\mathbf{m}} + \omega_{\mathbf{m}}^{a,b}\frac{1}{8}[\gamma_a,\gamma_b])\psi$, is certainly a part of (2.7) upon appropriate identification of fields, see also the comment below about general covariance. The Taylor coefficients of f should be understood as $f_{a_1...a_s}^{\mathbf{m}_1...\mathbf{m}_q}$, i.e. as tensors of the fiber Lorentz group O(d-1,1) and transforming as coefficients of differential operators in the **m**'s. In the present paper we do not dwell on the global geometry issues.

Now we would like to sketch the argument for why f is equivalent to the irreducible set of sources we introduced in (2.6). The sources in (2.6) are irreducible: they have definite Young symmetry and are traceless. The symmetry with α and β accompanied by appropriate field redefinitions allows one to set all traces to zero. Indeed, any trace is proportional to $(p \cdot \theta)$ or $(p \cdot p)$. As we demonstrate in appendix A in a more general setting the ϵ -symmetry can be used to reach the gauge condition $(\theta \cdot \partial_p)f = 0$, which is equivalent to the required Young symmetry for components. Then, for $h = (p \cdot \partial_{\theta})f$ we find

$$\delta h = \Pi((p \cdot \partial_x)\epsilon), \qquad (2.15)$$

where ϵ is assumed to satisfy $(p \cdot \partial_{\theta})\epsilon = 0$ and Π denotes projector onto the traceless part. Therefore, we see that, at the linearized level, i.e. for infinitesimal sources, the extended gauge symmetries that act on f allow us to get rid of the redundant components and reproduce the coupling (2.6) to the irreducible sources $h^{s,q}$.

Therefore, fluctuations f of F over $F_0 = i(\gamma \cdot p)$ are equivalent to the set of the offshell conformal hook-type sources (2.6) with the required gauge transformations. This also solves the original problem: how to put a fermion on non-infinitesimal higher spin background. Indeed, the gauge symmetries (2.12) feature a non-abelian field-dependent part hidden in $[\epsilon, F]$ that is needed to make the action invariant. Note, however, that even at the linearized level the proof that (2.14) is equivalent to (2.6) involves a chain of gauge fixings and redefinitions. These redefinitions become more complicated if we want to extract the non-linear corrections to the gauge symmetries (2.6) out of (2.12).

An important remark is that the action (2.9) does not seem to respect general covariance. In fact this is not so. Diffeomorphisms are a part of the gauge symmetry: $\epsilon = \xi^a \partial_a$ corresponds to the diffeomorphism subalgebra of the gauge symmetries. However, this symmetry acts in a tricky way on the component fields and certain nonlinear field redefinition is needed to make components of f to transform in a usual way. Without such a redefinition, the geometric interpretation of ψ as well as of background fields encoded in f is somewhat unusual. For instance, ψ is naturally a semi-density because the usual \sqrt{g} factor is not present. In order to arrive at the usual "geometrical" interpretation of the fields and their gauge symmetries at least for low-spin fields one needs to perform a suitable nonlinear field redefinition [26].

To conclude, the simple gauge symmetries (2.12) encode a rather complicated structure of non-abelian symmetries for higher spin background fields. The partition function

$$e^{W_F} = \int D\bar{\psi}D\psi \, e^{\int i\bar{\psi}\partial\!\!\!/\psi + \sum_{s,q} J_{s,q}h_{s,q}} = \int D\bar{\psi}D\psi \, e^{\int \bar{\psi}F\psi} \,, \qquad W_F = \operatorname{tr}\log F \,, \qquad (2.16)$$

should be invariant under these symmetries up to an anomaly that is known to show up in even dimensions [26, 27]. The ϵ -symmetries of (2.12) are anomaly-free while the α , β symmetries are higher spin extensions of the Weyl symmetry and can be anomalous. The anomaly gives a constructive definition of conformal higher spin theory [26, 27]. Higher spin sources considered here are easily identified [47, 48] as boundary values of on-shell AdS fields described in section 4. Lastly, when written in terms of F the theory of background fields looks very simple, but it should be remembered that one needs to choose a vacuum for F to make sense of (2.16). For example, the effective action is well-defined when expanded over $i(\gamma \cdot \partial_x)$ and gives the generating functional of correlators of the single-trace operators, as expected. Other choices of vacuum are also possible, e.g. $(-\partial_x \cdot \partial_x)^k (i\gamma \cdot \partial_x)$ corresponds to so-called higher order singletons — non-unitary free CFT's originating from $\Box^k \partial \psi = 0$.

3 Ambient space approach

In describing conformal fields as well as their associated background fields it can be very useful to employ the ambient space approach or its generalizations. The underlying idea is to realize the space-time manifold as a quotient of a submanifold of the ambient space where the conformal isometries act naturally and linearly. In the context of (conformal) gravity the generalized version of this procedure (known as Fefferman-Graham ambient metric construction [30]) allows one to realize geometrically the Weyl rescalings of the metric.

3.1 Fermion in ambient space

We start with the free Dirac conformal field $\psi(x)$ in Minkowski space, discussed in the preceding section and realize the Minkowski space $\mathbb{R}^{d-1,1}$ as a space of light-like rays in the ambient space $\mathbb{R}^{d,2}$ equipped with a pseudo-euclidean metric of signature (d, 2). Ambient space Cartesian coordinates are denoted by X^A , $A = \{+, -, a\}$, etc.; η_{AB} are components of the ambient metric $(\eta^{+-} = \eta^{-+} = 1)$ and \cdot denotes o(d, 2)-invariant contraction of ambient indices.

Although the ambient space representation for conformal spinor was introduced already by Dirac [49] (see also [50]), we need a slightly different formulation, where not all of the constraints are imposed but instead some of them are interpreted as gauge generators.

It is straightforward to check that the space of configurations for the Minkowski space conformal spinor can be described in terms of the ambient spinor $\Psi(X)$ taking values in the representation \mathcal{S} of the Clifford algebra generated by ambient γ -matrices Γ^A . In order to make $\Psi(X)$ equivalent to a weight- Δ fermionic field in d dimensions one can impose

$$(X \cdot \partial_X + \Delta + \frac{1}{2})\Psi = 0, \qquad \Psi \sim \Psi + X^2 \alpha + (X \cdot \Gamma)\beta, \qquad (3.1)$$

where⁷ the gauge parameters α (resp. β) also satisfy similar constraints but with Δ replaced with $\Delta - 2$ (resp. $\Delta - 1$). Indeed, the constraint and the first equivalence relation imply that we are describing a field on the projectivized hypercone. The second equivalence relation effectively reduces the representation of Clifford algebra in (d + 2)-dimensions to that of *d*-dimensions. To see this, consider the relation at a given point V^A of the hypercone and choose coordinates such that $V^- = 1$, $V^+ = V^a = 0$. Let us represent Γ^+ and Γ^- on Grassmann algebra $\mathbb{C}[\Gamma^+]$ generated by Γ^+ and consider S as a tensor product $\mathbb{C}[\Gamma^+] \otimes S_0$, where S_0 is a representation of Clifford algebra generated by Γ^a . The element in the

⁷The shift by $\frac{1}{2}$ is due to the fact the Ψ is a spinor and generators of the conformal algebra (3.4) will compensate for this shift.

representation can be written as $\Psi = 1 \otimes \psi_0 + \Gamma^+ \otimes \psi_1$ where $\psi_{0,1} \in \mathcal{S}_0$. It is then clear that ψ_1 can be set to zero using suitable β so that indeed we are dealing with the spinor in d dimensions. Note that with this gauge choice (i.e. elements of the form $1 \otimes \psi_0, \psi_0 \in \mathcal{S}_0$) Γ^- acts trivially.

For $\Delta = \frac{d-1}{2}$ one can impose the Dirac equation directly in the ambient space.⁸ Indeed, one can extend the above system by the following equations:

$$\partial_X \cdot \partial_X \Psi = 0, \qquad \Gamma \cdot \partial_X \Psi = 0, \qquad (3.2)$$

where the first one is a consequence of the second. It is easy to check that the full system is indeed consistent for $\Delta = \frac{d-1}{2}$ provided α , β are subject to the analogous constraints. It can be shown that altogether (3.1), (3.2) imply the Dirac equation in *d*-dimensions. A simple though not rigorous argument is to use gauge freedom to choose Ψ to be X^- -independent and such that $\Gamma^-\Psi = 0$ (strictly speaking this can be done only at a point). With this choice the equations reproduce the Dirac equation and its consequence, the Klein-Gordon equation in Minkowski space.

We see that the constrained system (2.5), whose relation to conformal symmetry is not manifest, can be replaced by the constrained system (3.1), (3.2). This system is determined by the five operators⁹

$$X^2, \qquad \partial_X^2, \qquad \left(X \cdot \partial_X + \frac{d+2}{2}\right), \qquad \Gamma \cdot X, \qquad \Gamma \cdot \partial_X.$$
 (3.3)

The five (3.3) form a representation of osp(1|2)-superalgebra on functions in X. In this representation the osp(1|2) generators (3.3) commute with the conformal algebra o(d, 2) represented in a standard way:

$$J_{AB} = X_A \frac{\partial}{\partial X^B} - X_B \frac{\partial}{\partial X^A} + \frac{1}{4} (\Gamma_A \Gamma_B - \Gamma_B \Gamma_A), \qquad (3.4)$$

which makes conformal symmetry manifest. In this representation o(d, 2) and osp(1|2) form a reductive dual pair in the sense of Howe [53, 54]. In particular, the conformal group acts on equivalence classes determined by (3.1) as well as on solutions to (3.1), (3.2). In this way one can easily re-derive the conformal transformations of the fermionic operator $\psi(x)$ in d dimensions.

The description just given is nothing but a usual first-quantized description in which Ψ is the wave function of the first-quantized constrained Hamiltonian system describing a particle with spin 1/2. Once we have a manifestly o(d, 2)-invariant description of the free fermion in terms of the osp(1|2) constraints, the next step is to add higher spin background fields, which is similar to going from (2.5) to (2.11).

⁸More generally one can take $\Delta = \frac{d+1}{2} - \ell$ with ℓ positive integer. This choice corresponds to higher-order spinor singletons discussed at the end of the previous section. The generalization of the present discussion to $\ell > 1$ can be done in a direct analogy with the higher-order scalar singletons [14] (see also [13, 51]). Representation theoretical study of these fields can be found in [52].

⁹Note that the constant in the third operator differs from that in (3.1), the origin of this shift is that in (3.1) X^2 and $X \cdot \Gamma$ are gauged rather than imposed, see e.g. [16, 17].

3.2 Background fields in ambient space

Given a first-quantized constrained system, one can systematically derive, in general nonlinear, equations and gauge symmetries for background fields. Such procedure was discussed in the context of BRST formulation of string theory in [55]. A general approach suitable in the present context was developed in [15], see also [14].

Now we briefly recall the basic ideas. We restrict ourselves to the description at the level of equations of motions. At this level there is no need to explicitly introduce representation space of the quantum system and it is useful to employ the language of the star-product so that instead of quantum operators we work with phase space functions and use star-product instead of operator multiplication. Moreover, we do not impose reality conditions and hence work with complexified fields.

Suppose we are given the first class constrained system with constraints F_i which are elements of the (graded) star-product algebra. The consistency condition reads as¹⁰

$$[F_i, F_j]_{\star} = U_{ij}^k \star F_k \,, \tag{3.5}$$

where, as before, $[,]_{\star}$ denotes \star super-commutator determined by the Grassmann degree in the \star -product algebra. Here and in the sequel we assume that for a given F_i its Grassmann degree |i| is set. In particular, in the case where U_{ij}^k are structure constants of a Lie superalgebra, $|F_i|$ (as an element of the \star -product algebra) must coincide with the degree |i| of a basis element e_i of the Lie superalgebra, to which F_i is associated, see [56] for more detail.

If we identify functions F_i as generating functions for background fields, (3.5) can be interpreted as equations of motion. Moreover, natural equivalence transformations for the constraints

$$\delta F_i = \lambda_i^j \star F_j + [\epsilon, F_i]_\star \,, \tag{3.6}$$

can be interpreted as gauge transformations for F_i . Note that in general U_{ij}^k are also transformed, see e.g. [56] for more detail.

The transformations with λ_j^i correspond to infinitesimal redefinitions of the constraints (at classical level such symmetries preserve the constraint surface; at the quantum level they preserve the physical subspace). In this way one arrives at the gauge theory of background fields associated with a given constrained system. From this perspective, the constrained system itself (i.e. when F_i , U_{ij}^k are concrete phase space functions) is just a fixed solution (e.g. vacuum solution) to the theory of background fields.

One can also think of the space of all reasonable solutions quotiented by the above gauge symmetry as the moduli space of constrained systems with a given phase space. It is important to note that one and the same theory of background fields may have various inequivalent vacua. Examples of such vacua have already been given at the end of section 2: $F = i(\gamma \cdot p)(-p^2)^k$ correspond to different free CFT's whose off-shell field content is given by

 $^{^{10}}$ The structures we discuss below can be systematically extracted from the BRST operator encoding these constraints, see [14, 15] for more detail. To simplify the discussion we prefer not to go into the details of the BRST formulation.

the same $\psi(x)$. Note that for different k the spectrum of single-trace operators and hence the set of background fields are different, so that the vacua are clearly non-inequivalent.

Background fields for Dirac fermion on Minkowski space discussed in section 2 is a simple example of the general pattern. Because the ambient osp(1|2) constrained system from the previous section is equivalent to the Minkowski space one, we can equivalently use it to derive a more convenient ambient form for the associated theory of background fields.¹¹ This still has a form (3.5), (3.6) where F_i are associated to the osp(1|2) generators and are functions on the ambient phase space with coordinates X^A , P_B , θ_C . The \star -product is determined by

$$[X^A, P_B]_{\star} = \delta^A_B, \qquad \qquad [\theta_A, \theta_B]_{\star} = 2\eta_{AB}, \qquad (3.7)$$

where the Grassmann degree in the \star -product algebra is introduced according to $|\theta| = 1$, |X| = |P| = 0.

Let us recall that in the minimal construction we are concerned now we require $|F_i| = |i|$, where |i| denotes Grassmann degree of the osp(1|2) generator to which F_i is associated. In particular, F_i associated to odd generators of osp(1|2) contain only odd powers of θ and hence, as we are going to see, the system describes the minimal multiplet of hook-shape fields (for *d*-odd this gives a multiplicity free set of all irreducible hook-shape tensors; for *d* even these are fields associated to all Young diagrams of odd height).¹²

For system (3.5), (3.6) to describe background fields for the Dirac fermion we need to restrict ourselves to F_i which are close to the vacuum solution $(i = \{++, 0, --, +, -\})$

$$F_{++}^{0} = \frac{1}{2}P^{2}, \qquad F_{0}^{0} = X \cdot P, \qquad F_{--}^{0} = \frac{1}{2}X^{2}, \qquad F_{+}^{0} = \theta \cdot P, \qquad F_{-}^{0} = \theta \cdot X.$$
(3.9)

Moreover, we need to consider the system in the vicinity of the hypercone $X^2 = 0$ in the ambient space. With these precautions one can indeed prove, see below, that this gives an equivalent description of the background fields of section 2. Somewhat analogous ambient space approach to background fields for the Dirac fermion was considered in [43] from a slightly different perspective, see also [57–59] for earlier related works.

To conclude, the manifestly o(d, 2)-invariant formulation of background fields for Dirac fermion has the form of the osp(1|2) system of constraints. Once formulated in ambient space, any system can, at least formally, be considered in the vicinity of the hyperboloid $X^2 = -1$ to give a theory in AdS_{d+1} .¹³ Before doing that, let us review what is the expected free field content of the dual theory and how to describe it in the ambient space.

$$\mathfrak{k} \star \mathfrak{k} = 1, \qquad \mathfrak{k} \star \theta_A + \mathfrak{k} \star \theta_A = 0, \qquad |\mathfrak{k}| = 1, \qquad (3.8)$$

¹¹This trick was originally used in [15] in the context of background fields for AdS scalar.

¹²A possible way to describe nonminimal multiplets (e.g. to have background fields of even height in the case of even d) is to extend the algebra with an extra Clifford generator \mathfrak{k} satisfying

and not entering generators for osp(1|2) and o(d, 2)-algebras. With this extension the homogeneity in θ is not restricted despite the condition $|F_i| = |i|$. This trick is based on the standard fact that Clifford algebra can be realized as an even subalgebra of the Clifford algebra in one dimension higher.

¹³Although the idea to use ambient space to go from bulk to boundary and back is known starting from the Fefferman-Graham ambient metric construction the framework we are going to use was developed in [14, 17, 48] and employed in a similar context recently in [13].

4 Type-B theory at free level

We begin with developing a compact formulation of unitary gauge fields in AdS_{d+1} , which are tensors whose symmetry is described by Young diagrams of the hook shape:¹⁴

$$\Phi_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s,\nu_1\dots\nu_q}(x) \sim \boxed{\frac{s}{q}} \tag{4.1}$$

These fields are in one-to-one with the sources from the previous sections in the sense that the later can be seen as the leading boundary values of the former [47, 48]. In the next section we are going to extract these fields from the non-linear system.

As different from totally-symmetric fields that constitute the spectrum of the Type-A higher spin gravity that is dual to the free boson CFT, the spectrum of the Type-B theory contains fields of the symmetry type depicted above. Gauge fields of mixed-symmetry are trickier and reveal some features not present in the totally-symmetric case [60].

Not going into the detail, we simply recall that the equations of motion and gauge symmetries are [60, 61]:

$$(-\nabla^2 + M_{s,q}^2)\Phi_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s,\nu_1\dots\nu_q}(x) = 0, \qquad (4.2)$$

$$\delta\Phi_{\mu_1\dots\mu_s,\nu_1\dots\nu_q}(x) = \nabla_{\mu_1}\xi_{\mu_2\dots\mu_s,\nu_1\dots\nu_q}(x) + \text{permutations}. \tag{4.3}$$

It is assumed that both the field and the gauge parameter are in the transverse-traceless gauge, i.e. all traces and divergences vanish:

$$\nabla^{\lambda} \Phi_{\lambda \mu_{2} \dots \mu_{s}, \nu_{1} \dots \nu_{q}}(x) = 0, \qquad \nabla^{\lambda} \Phi_{\mu_{1} \dots \mu_{s}, \lambda \nu_{2} \dots \nu_{q}}(x) = 0, \qquad (4.4)$$

$$g^{\lambda\rho}\Phi_{\lambda\rho\mu_3\dots\mu_s,\nu_1\dots\nu_q}(x) = 0, \qquad \qquad g^{\lambda\rho}\Phi_{\lambda\mu_2\dots\mu_s,\rho\nu_2\dots\nu_q}(x) = 0, \qquad (4.5)$$

and similarly for the gauge parameter. As a result, the gauge parameter has to obey a similar on-shell condition. The value of the mass parameter is fixed by gauge invariance to be $M_{s,q}^2 = \Delta(\Delta - d) - s - q$ [60], where the cosmological constant was set to one and $\Delta = d + s - 2$ for the duals of conserved tensors. It is worth mentioning that not all of the fields in the hypothetical Type-B theory are gauge fields. Those with s = 1 and $q = 1, 2, \ldots$ are massive and $M_{s=1,q}^2 = -(d-1) - q - 1$. There is also a scalar field s = 0, q = 0 with $M_{s=0,q=0}^2 = -(d-1)$.

4.1 Ambient space description

It is convenient to describe these fields in terms of the same ambient space $\mathbb{R}^{d,2}$ with coordinates X^A and such that AdS_{d+1} space can be (locally) identified with the hyperboloid $X \cdot X = -1$. To pack the fields into generating functions it is also convenient to introduce commuting variables P_A to contract the indices associated to the upper row of the Young

¹⁴Indices μ, ν, \ldots are the indices of AdS_{d+1} in some local coordinates. Field $\Phi^{\mu_1...\mu_s,\nu_1...\nu_q}$ is symmetric in the μ 's and anti-symmetric in the ν 's. The Young symmetry implies $\Phi^{\mu_1...\mu_s,\mu_{s+1}\nu_2...\nu_q} + permutations of <math>\mu$'s $\equiv 0$.

diagram and anticommuting variables θ_A to contract the indices associated to the first column (save for the upper cell) of the Young diagram, the generating function being

$$f_S(X, P, \theta) = \sum_{\substack{s \ge 1, q \ge 0\\ s = 0, q = 0}} f_S^{A_1 \dots A_s; B_1 \dots B_q} P_{A_1} \dots P_{A_s} \theta_{B_1} \dots \theta_{B_q},$$
(4.6)

which encodes all fields of this type simultaneously. The usage of (anti)commuting variables ensures that the field is symmetric in the first group of indices and is antisymmetric in the second one. The Young symmetry conditions can be compactly expressed in terms of the above generating functions as $(P \cdot \partial_{\theta})f_S = 0$.

The ambient space field f_S introduced above can be subject to the constraints which effectively reduce it to the collection of tensor fields of the same Young shape defined on the hyperboloid $X^2 = -1$. The constraints are:

$$(X \cdot \partial_P)f_S = 0, \quad (X \cdot \partial_\theta)f_S = 0, \quad (P \cdot \partial_\theta)f_S = 0, \quad (X \cdot \partial_X - P \cdot \partial_P + w)f_S = 0, \quad (4.7)$$

where w is a number which we leave free at the moment. The ambient field f_S can also be subject to o(d, 2)-invariant extra constraints

$$(\partial_X \cdot \partial_X)f_S = (\partial_X \cdot \partial_P)f_S = (\partial_P \cdot \partial_P)f_S = (\partial_X \cdot \partial_\theta)f_S = (\partial_P \cdot \partial_\theta)f_S = 0, \qquad (4.8)$$

which imply that the component fields are irreducible tensors subject to the usual 2-nd order differential equations. In fact, for generic weight w the system describes massive fields on AdS_{d+1} .

If one takes w = 2, the above system possesses gauge symmetries $\delta f_S = (P \cdot \partial_X)\xi_S$, where ξ_S is a gauge parameter subject to the analogous constraints. Let us summarize the constraints on f_S and ξ_S and the gauge transformations:

$$(\partial_X \cdot \partial_X) f_S = (\partial_X \cdot \partial_P) f_S = (\partial_P \cdot \partial_P) f_S = (\partial_X \cdot \partial_\theta) f_S = (\partial_P \cdot \partial_\theta) f_S = 0, (\partial_X \cdot \partial_X) \xi_S = (\partial_X \cdot \partial_P) \xi_S = (\partial_P \cdot \partial_P) \xi_S = (\partial_X \cdot \partial_\theta) \xi_S = (\partial_P \cdot \partial_\theta) \xi_S = 0,$$
(4.9)

and

$$(X \cdot \partial_{\theta})f_S = (X \cdot \partial_P)f_S = (P \cdot \partial_P - X \cdot \partial_X - 2)f_S = (P \cdot \partial_{\theta})f_S = 0, \qquad (4.10a)$$

$$(X \cdot \partial_{\theta})\xi_{S} = (X \cdot \partial_{P})\xi_{S} = (P \cdot \partial_{P} - X \cdot \partial_{X})\xi_{S} = (P \cdot \partial_{\theta})\xi_{S} = 0, \qquad (4.10b)$$

$$\delta f_S = (P \cdot \partial_X) \xi_S \,. \tag{4.10c}$$

Specializing the ambient formulation [61] of generic AdS fields to massless unitary gauge fields of hook-type, and rewriting the formulation of [61] in terms of fermionic θ_A in place of the bosonic oscillators one precisely arrives at (4.9) and (4.10).

Note that all the constraints and the gauge generator clearly form a subalgebra of osp(4|2) (strictly speaking some constant terms are to be added). In this representation this algebra commutes with o(d, 2) that acts by

$$J_{AB} = X_A \frac{\partial}{\partial X^B} + P_A \frac{\partial}{\partial P^B} + \theta_A \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta^B} - (A \rightleftharpoons B).$$
(4.11)

More specifically, if we restrict ourselves to polynomials in X, P, θ we get the standard setting of the Howe duality.

To complete the discussion of the hook-type fields let us present an alternative formulation, which, as we are going to see, arises as a linearization of the Type-B non-linear theory. In terms of the generating functions $f_+(X, P, \theta)$, $\xi(X, P, \theta)$ for fields and parameters the equations of motion and gauge symmetries take the form:

$$(X \cdot \partial_{\theta} + \theta \cdot \partial_{P})f_{+} = (X \cdot \partial_{P})f_{+} = (P \cdot \partial_{P} - X \cdot \partial_{X} - 1)f_{+} = 0, \qquad (4.12a)$$

$$(X \cdot \partial_{\theta} + \theta \cdot \partial_{P})\xi = (X \cdot \partial_{P})\xi = (P \cdot \partial_{P} - X \cdot \partial_{X})\xi = 0, \qquad (4.12b)$$

$$\delta f_{+} = (P \cdot \partial_{\theta} - \theta \cdot \partial_{X})\xi, \qquad (4.12c)$$

and

$$(\partial_X \cdot \partial_X)f_+ = (\partial_X \cdot \partial_P)f_+ = (\partial_P \cdot \partial_P)f_+ = (\partial_X \cdot \partial_\theta)f_+ = (\partial_P \cdot \partial_\theta)f_+ = 0, (\partial_X \cdot \partial_X)\xi = (\partial_X \cdot \partial_P)\xi = (\partial_P \cdot \partial_P)\xi = (\partial_X \cdot \partial_\theta)\xi = (\partial_P \cdot \partial_\theta)\xi = 0.$$

$$(4.13)$$

Note that neither fields nor gauge parameters are irreducible tensors in this formulation. In appendix A we show that this formulation is equivalent to (4.10), (4.9) through partial gauge fixing and field redefinition. Also, cf. (4.12c) and (2.14).

In what follows, we mostly make use of minimal subset of the above fields which still admits nonlinear extension. The subset is obtained by setting to zero all f_+ that are of even homogeneity degree in θ (in the formulation in terms of f_S one sets to zero even degree fields). Note that for *d*-odd the subset is multiplicity free in the sense that each irreducible massless field contained in the subset enters only once and moreover all inequivalent massless fields of hook shape are present.

In what follows it is also convenient to identify the off-shell version of the above linear theory. It is obtained by dropping constraints (4.9) or (4.13).

5 Type-B theory

In the section we propose a non-linear formally consistent gauge invariant system that reproduces Type-B theory at the free level and also reproduces all the structures determining the formal non-linear deformation. The theory's boundary values are the background fields $h^{s,q}$ introduced in section 2 together with the symmetries thereof and the latter, as we know, completely fix the effective action W[h].

Let us consider again the constrained system (3.5), (3.6) defined in the ambient space in the vicinity of the hypercone $X^2 = 0$ and assume that fields are close to their vacuum values (3.9) and hence U_{ij}^k are close to the osp(1|2) structure constants C_{ij}^k . As we already discussed, this system describes the same background fields $h^{s,q}$ for Dirac fermion in *d*dimensions realized in the ambient space.

The idea is to uplift this system from the conformal *d*-dimensional space (boundary) to (d+1)-dimensional AdS space (bulk) in such a way that the boundary values of the fields of the bulk theory coincide with the background fields $h^{s,q}$ on the boundary, while preserving all the symmetries of the latter. The ambient formulation suggests an easy way to do this

by considering (3.5), (3.6) to be defined in the vicinity of the hyperboloid $X^2 = -1$. This is justified by the fact that within the ambient framework it is known [14, 17] that the passage from bulk fields to their boundary values amounts to simply considering the same ambient system in the vicinity of $X^2 = 0$ rather than $X^2 = -1$.

To see that we are on a right track, let us temporarily disregard gauge transformations (3.6) with parameters λ , i.e. set λ_j^i to zero in (3.6). The remaining gauge transformations with parameter ϵ preserve the structure constants so that we can assume $U_{ij}^k = C_{ij}^k$. Then it turns out that the linearization of (3.5), (3.6) around the vacuum solution (3.9) followed by partial gauge fixing and solving some of the equations results in (4.10), i.e. reproduce the off-shell Type-B theory at the free level. The detailed proof of this statement is given in the next section, where we introduce more powerful formalism to handle the system.

If one reinstates the gauge transformations with parameters λ_j^i the interpretation of the system drastically depends on the choice of the functional class for fields. To see this, we restrict ourselves to field configurations that are close to the vacuum solution (3.9).¹⁵ Then on one hand, if F_i are smooth functions defined in a vicinity of the hyperboloid this gauge symmetries can be used to gauge away all F_i because $F_{--} = -1 + \ldots$ on the hyperboloid (cf. (3.9)) and hence can be inverted. On the other hand, if F_i are polynomials in X this gauge symmetry can be used to make all F_i totally traceless, i.e. satisfying (4.9) as required for the free on-shell Type-B theory. However, this functional class is not suitable for genuine field theory (fields are not polynomials).

Therefore, the problem boils down to identifying the right functional class for fluctuations of F_i . It turns out that there is a consistent choice of functional class such that the linearization of (3.5), (3.6) is indeed equivalent to (4.10), (4.9), i.e. reproduces the on-shell Type-B theory at the free level. This functional class is a straightforward generalization of the one, which was employed in the analogous construction [13] for the Type-A.

In order to study the system further and to introduce the functional class it is useful to reformulate it using the so-called parent formalism. For theories of background fields the construction was originally proposed in [15] while the general approach was developed in [32, 34, 62, 63]. In this approach a given system is reformulated as an AKSZ-type sigma-model [64] whose target space is the jet-space BRST complex of the gauge theory under considerations.

The geometric idea of the parent reformulation in the present context is to consider the theory as defined on the formal ambient space with coordinates Y^A and then identify this space as a fiber of a fiber-bundle over the genuine space-time manifold (AdS_{d+1}) in our case). In so doing one gets a collection of systems parameterized by space-time coordinates.

¹⁵The interpretation also depends on the choice of vacuum. Let us remind that this is true even on the CFT side, where the situation is much more clear: different choices of F in (2.10) (or F_i in (3.5)) correspond to different CFT's. For instance, if in (2.10) we choose $F = 1 + \ldots$ instead of $F = i(\gamma \cdot p) + \ldots$ then the CFT is empty. Let us note that our understanding of the functional class problems on the CFT side is also somewhat illusory: the effective action $W[F] = \text{tr} \log F$ resulting from the formal path integral is just a symbol that can be made sense of in special situations only. The functional class issues we are facing should be related to the general problem of how to relate Hilbert spaces on the two sides of AdS/CFT.

The equivalence is then maintained by introducing an extra field, the connection one-form A with values in the \star -product algebra and to require this connection to be flat and all the fields to be covariantly constant. As a byproduct, one arrives at the reformulation of the original ambient space theory in terms of fields explicitly defined on AdS space.

This being said, let us construct parent formulation of the ambient space system (3.5)–(3.6). The target space is the (super) Weyl algebra of (d+2) canonical bosonic pairs Y^A , P_B and (d+2) fermionic θ^A . In practice, we deal with the star-product algebra of functions in Y^A , P_B and θ^A :

$$(f \star g)(Y, P, \theta) = f(Y, P, \theta) \exp\left[\frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial Y^A} \frac{\overrightarrow{\partial}}{\partial P_A} - \frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial P_A} \frac{\overrightarrow{\partial}}{\partial Y^A} + \frac{\overleftarrow{\partial}}{\partial \theta^A} \frac{\overrightarrow{\partial}}{\partial \theta_A}\right] g(Y, P, \theta) \,. \tag{5.1}$$

The field content consists of five zero-forms F_i and one one-form connection A:

$$A = dX^{\underline{B}} A_{\underline{B}}(X|Y, P, \theta), \qquad F_i = F_i(X|Y, P, \theta), \qquad (5.2)$$

where $X^{\underline{B}}$ denotes local coordinates on the ambient space. The Grassmann degree naturally extends to the new variables and fields and is determined by:

 $|\theta| = |dX| = 1, \qquad |Y| = |P| = |X| = 0, \qquad |F_i| = |i|, \quad |A| = 1.$ (5.3)

5.1 Off-shell system

We first consider the off-shell version of the parent system. It is constructed out of the ambient space system (3.5), (3.6) where the λ -gauge symmetries related to the redefinition of the constraints have been disregarded. In this case one can assume $U_{ij}^k = C_{ij}^k$ so that the equations of motion and the gauge symmetries read as:

$$dA = \frac{1}{2}[A, A]_{\star}, \qquad \qquad \delta A = d\xi - [A, \xi]_{\star}, \qquad (5.4a)$$

$$dF_i = [A, F_i]_\star, \qquad \qquad \delta F_i = [\xi, F_i]_\star, \qquad (5.4b)$$

$$[F_i, F_j]_{\star} = C_{ij}^k F_k \,, \tag{5.4c}$$

where d is the de Rham differential on the spacetime manifold and $[,]_{\star}$ is a supercommutator defined with respect to Grassmann degree (5.3). Note that now $X^{\underline{A}}$ -variables commute with all the other and merely serve as parameters.

The equivalence with the original system (3.5)-(3.6) can be seen by requiring A to be "sufficiently close" to the vacuum solution

$$A^0 = dX^A P_A \,. \tag{5.5}$$

With $A = A^0$ the first equation in (5.4b) implies $\frac{\partial}{\partial X^A}F_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial Y^A}F_i$, so that the equivalence is straightforward. Furthermore, the linearized gauge transformations for A involve $dX^A \frac{\partial}{\partial Y^A} \xi$, which implies that at least linearized fluctuations can be gauged away thanks to the Poincare Lemma for the formal de Rham differential $dX^A \frac{\partial}{\partial Y^A}$. In other words, for A sufficiently close to A^0 one can assume that the gauge $A = A^0$ is reachable. In the gauge $A = A^0$ it is easy to identify a parent version of the vacuum solution (3.9)

$$A = A^{0}, F_{-}^{0} = (Y^{A} + X^{A})\theta_{A}, F_{+}^{0} = P^{A}\theta_{A}, F_{--}^{0} = \frac{1}{2}(Y + X) \cdot (Y + X), F_{++}^{0} = \frac{1}{2}P \cdot P, F_{0}^{0} = (Y + X) \cdot P. (5.6)$$

Nevertheless, it is very useful not to gauge-away A in order to be able to work in any coordinates on the base space and allow for rather general local transformations in the fiber. Note that in the classical (*-commutator replaced by the Poisson bracket) limit A can be taken linear in P_A and is nothing but the gauge field associated to ambient space diffeomorphisms.

If we consider (5.4) in the vicinity of the hyperboloid and interpret it as a local field theory defined on the hyperboloid $X^2 = -1$, it is convenient to pull-back the system to $X^2 = -1$ in order to explicitly work with fields defined in terms of generic coordinates on the hyperboloid. With a suitable choice of a local frame the adapted version of the vacuum solution (5.6) reads as¹⁶

$$A^{0} = dx^{\mu}\omega_{\mu A}{}^{B}T^{A}{}_{B} , \qquad T^{AB} = -(Y^{A} + V^{A}) \cdot P^{B} + \frac{1}{4}\theta^{A}\theta^{B} - (A \rightleftharpoons B) ,$$

$$F^{0}_{-} = (Y^{A} + V^{A})\theta_{A} , \qquad F^{0}_{+} = P^{A}\theta_{A} , \qquad (5.7)$$

$$F^{0}_{--} = \frac{1}{2}(Y + V) \cdot (Y + V) , \qquad F^{0}_{++} = \frac{1}{2}P \cdot P , \qquad F^{0}_{0} = (Y + V) \cdot P ,$$

where T^{AB} are the o(d, 2) generators, the compensator field V^A is taken constant, $V \cdot V = -1$, and ω_A^B is a flat o(d, 2)-connection one-form such that $\nabla_\mu V^A$ has maximal rank. Compensator field V^A has a clear meaning of the original Cartesian coordinate X^A on the ambient space which was set to constant by a local o(d, 2)-transformations (recall that the theory is defined on the hyperboloid so that $V^2 = -1$). Note that such a vacuum solution exists even if a spacetime is isometric to AdS_{d+1} only locally.

In what follows we refer to system (5.4) defined on (d + 1)-dimensional space as to off-shell system. Unless otherwise specified it is assumed that the theory is understood around the vacuum where $F = F_i^0$, with F_i^0 defined in (5.7).

Linearization. The linearized equations are obtained from (5.4) by replacing $A \to A^0 + a$ and $F_i \to F_i^0 + f_i$ and picking the terms linear in a and f_i :

$$D_0 a = 0, \qquad \qquad \delta a = D_0 \xi, \qquad (5.8a)$$

$$D_0 f_i = [a, F_i^0]_{\star}, \qquad \qquad \delta f_i = [\xi, F_i^0]_{\star}, \qquad (5.8b)$$

$$[F_i^0, f_j]_{\star} - (ij) - C_{ij}^k f_k = 0, \qquad (5.8c)$$

where A^0 , F_i^0 is a vacuum solution and $D_0 \bullet \equiv d \bullet - [A^0, \bullet]$ is the background covariant derivative. In our case, the vacuum is (5.7).

It is easy to check that the system (5.8) can be written in the BRST first quantized form

$$\Omega \Phi = 0, \quad \delta \Phi = \Omega \Xi, \qquad \operatorname{gh}(\Phi) = 1, \quad \operatorname{gh}(\Xi) = 0, \tag{5.9}$$

¹⁶Here x^{μ} are some intrinsic coordinates on the hyperboloid and dx^{μ} are the associated differentials.

introducing ghost variables c^i and using the BRST operator

$$\Omega = D_0 + c^i [F_i^0, \bullet]_{\star} - (-1)^{|i|(|j|+1)} \frac{1}{2} c^i c^j C_{ij}^k \frac{\partial}{\partial c^k} .$$
(5.10)

Then working in the local frame such that $V^A = (1, 0, ..., 0)$ and using notations \bar{y}, y^m for the respective components of Y^A and similarly for P_A, θ_A let us decompose the representation space (i.e. the space where Φ takes values) according to the following degree

$$\deg c^{++} = \deg c^{+} = \deg dx^{\mu} = 1.$$
(5.11)

Accordingly, the BRST operator Ω -decomposes into homogeneous pieces as

$$\Omega = \Omega_0 + \Omega_1, \qquad \Omega_0 = c^0 [(Y+V) \cdot P, \bullet]_{\star} + c^- [(Y+V) \cdot \theta, \bullet]_{\star} + c^{--} [\frac{1}{2} (Y+V)^2, \bullet]_{\star} + \text{ghosts}$$

The operator Ω_0 is algebraic and it is known [34] that the BRST system can be equivalently reduced to the one whose representation space is identified with the cohomology of Ω_0 .

To compute the cohomology of Ω_0 we use another degree in the representation space:

$$\deg' \bar{y} = \deg' \bar{p} = \deg' \bar{\theta} = 1, \qquad (5.12)$$

and hence Ω_0 can be decomposed as

$$\Omega_0 = \Delta_{-1} + \Delta_0, \qquad \Delta_{-1} = -c^0 \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{y}} + c^{--} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{p}} + 2c^- \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\theta}}, \qquad (5.13)$$

with deg' $\Delta_i = i$. Cohomology of Ω_0 can be computed by first computing cohomology of Δ_{-1} . In its turn, the cohomology of Δ_{-1} is clearly given by $c^0, c^{--}, c^-, \bar{y}, \bar{p}, \bar{\theta}$ -independent elements and hence representatives of Ω_0 -cohomology can be taken to be c^0, c^{--}, c^- independent. The system is then reduced to (the reduction amounts to just restricting Ω_1 to act on the subspace of the representatives because Ω_1 preserves this subspace):

$$\Omega' = D_0 + c^{++} [\frac{1}{2} P^2, \bullet]_{\star} + c^+ [P \cdot \theta, \bullet]_{\star} - 2c^+ c^+ \frac{\partial}{\partial c^{++}},$$

$$\Phi' = \Phi'(x, dx^{\mu}, Y, P, \theta, c^{++}, c^+), \qquad \Omega_0 \Phi' = 0.$$
(5.14)

It is useful to perform one more reduction by going to cohomology of the term $c^+c^+\frac{\partial}{\partial c^{++}}$ entering Ω' . The cohomology can be explicitly realized as the quotient space of c^{++} independent elements by those proportional to $(c^+)^2$ and it is useful to work in terms of representatives that are at most linear in c^+ . Then the reduced system is given by

$$\Omega^{\text{red}} = D_0 + c^+ [P \cdot \theta, \bullet]_\star,$$

$$\Phi^{\text{red}} = \Phi^{\text{red}}(x, dx^\mu, Y, P, \theta, c^+), \qquad \Omega_0 \Phi^{\text{red}} = 0, \qquad \Phi^{\text{red}} \sim \Phi^{\text{red}} + (c^+)^2 \chi.$$
(5.15)

In terms of component fields this reduction amounts to the elimination of f_{++} through its equations of motion $f_{++} = [P \cdot \theta, f_+]_{\star}$. Upon the reduction the system takes the form

$$D_0 a = 0, \qquad \qquad \delta a = D_0 \xi, \qquad (5.16a)$$

$$D_0 f_+ = [a, F_+^0]_\star, \qquad \qquad \delta f_+ = [F_+^0, \xi]_\star, \qquad (5.16b)$$

$$[F_{-}^{0}, f_{+}]_{\star} = [F_{--}^{0}, f_{+}]_{\star} = [F_{0}^{0}, f_{+}]_{\star} - f_{+} = 0, \quad [F_{-}^{0}, a]_{\star} = [F_{--}^{0}, a]_{\star} = [F_{0}^{0}, a]_{\star} = 0, \quad (5.16c)$$

where the gauge parameter ξ also satisfies $[F_{-}^{0}, \xi]_{\star} = [F_{--}^{0}, \xi]_{\star} = [F_{0}^{0}, \xi]_{\star} = 0$. Note that the equations involving F_{--} are consequences of those with F_{-} and hence can be dropped. In its turn the above linear system can be arrived at by reformulating (4.12) in the parent form so that it is equivalent to the off-shell version of the free Type-B theory.

The above homological arguments showing that the linearized parent system is equivalent to the multiplet of linear fields is a straightforward generalization of those given in [65], which in turn are substantially based on [15, 32] (see also [33, 61]).

5.2 On-shell system

Now using off-shell system (5.4) as a starting point we take into account the gauge symmetry (3.6) related to the redefinition of the constraints and let structure functions (3.5) to vary. More precisely, if we view equations (5.4) as consistency conditions for the constrained system with constraints $\partial_{\mu} + A_{\mu}$, F_i and hence identify dx^{μ} as ghost variables, one would allow redefinitions of the constraints A_{μ} as well. Nevertheless, it is convenient not to redefine F_i through $\partial_{\mu} + A_{\mu}$ because on one hand this spoils geometric interpretation and on the other hand such redefinitions are not really needed because any redefinition of the F_i constraints in the ambient space can be lifted to a system of the form (5.4).

In this way we arrive at the system:

$$dA - \frac{1}{2}[A, A]_{\star} = u^i \star F_i, \qquad \qquad \delta A = d\xi - [A, \xi]_{\star} + \lambda^j \star F_j, \qquad (5.17a)$$

$$dF_i - [A, F_i]_{\star} = u_i^j \star F_j, \qquad \delta F_i = [\xi, F_i]_{\star} + \lambda_i^j \star F_j, \qquad (5.17b)$$

$$[F_i, F_j]_{\star} - C_{ij}^k F_k = u_{ij}^k \star F_k \,. \tag{5.17c}$$

Here, the new *u*-fields account for the variation of the structure constants and are not considered dynamical. So the system is understood as equations on F_i , A_{μ} which say that F_i , A_{μ} are such that equations can be satisfied with some *u*. A general systematic procedure to arrive at the system (5.17) is to employ the BRST formalism and AKSZ sigma models, see [15, 65] for more detail. See also [51] for more detail on the algebraic interpretation of equations (5.17). In so doing the *u*-fields appear at the equal footing with other fields. Note that (5.7) is a particular solution of the above on-shell system.

In what follows we refer to system (5.17) defined on (d + 1)-dimensional space as to on-shell system. Unless otherwise specified it is assumed that the theory is understood around the vacuum where $F = F_i^0$, with F_i^0 defined in (5.7). This on-shell system is our proposal for the Type-B theory.

Linearization. The linearized equations are obtained from (5.17) as before, i.e. by replacing $A \to A^0 + a$ and $F_i \to F_i^0 + f_i$ and picking the terms linear in a and f_i :

$$D_0 a = u^i \star F_i^0, \qquad \delta a = D_0 \xi + \lambda^i \star F_i^0, \qquad (5.18a)$$

$$D_0 f_i - [a, F_i^0]_{\star} = u_i^j \star F_j^0, \qquad \delta f_i = [\xi, F_i^0]_{\star} + \lambda_i^j \star F_j^0, \qquad (5.18b)$$

$$[F_i^0, f_j]_{\star,\pm} - (ij) - C_{ij}^k f_k = u_{ij}^k \star F_k^0, \qquad (5.18c)$$

where A^0 , F_i^0 is a vacuum solution, e.g. (5.7), and $D_0 \bullet \equiv d \bullet - [A^0, \bullet]$ is the background covariant derivative.

Now we are going to make use of the λ gauge symmetry in order to explicitly formulate (5.18) as an on-shell system. Suppose that we have succeeded to identify such a class of functions in Y, P, θ that, by using λ -gauge transformations, fields a, f_i can be made totally traceless, i.e. belonging to the kernel of the following operators:

$$\partial_Y \cdot \partial_Y, \qquad \partial_Y \cdot \partial_P, \qquad \partial_P \cdot \partial_P, \qquad \partial_Y \cdot \partial_\theta, \qquad \partial_P \cdot \partial_\theta.$$
 (5.19)

Then the right hand sides in (5.18) vanish and the system takes the form (5.8). Note that the above condition is a parent formulation counterpart of the equations (4.13).

As before linearized equations of motion and gauge symmetries can be encoded in (5.9), where now Φ, Ξ belong to the kernel of (5.19). All the steps leading to the system (5.16) remain unchanged except that now one needs to employ the known results [66–68] on the structure of polynomial algebras in the supersymmetric case in order to make sure that the Δ_{-1} cohomology is concentrated in degree zero in c^{--}, c^0, c^- -ghosts. In this way one arrives at the system (5.16) but with a, f_+ belonging to the kernel of (5.19). This system can be shown to be a parent reformulation of the ambient space system (4.12), (4.13). To summarize, under the assumptions made we have shown that the on-shell system (5.17) reproduces the free Type-B theory introduced in section 4 upon linearization around the vacuum solution (5.7) describing AdS space.

Note that the linear parent formulation in terms of BRST operator (5.9), (5.10) with Φ, Ξ in the kernel of (5.19) can be used to arrive directly to the metric-like approach of section 4 by performing a suitable homological reduction, see e.g. [32] for the analogous procedure in the case of totally symmetric fields. Homological methods may also be used to formulate the theory in terms of physical degrees of freedom only, see e.g. [69, 70] for similar analysis of higher spin fields in Minkowski space.

5.3 Functional class

As it was already noted, an interpretation of the theory of background fields crucially depends on the choice of vacuum as physics over different vacua can be very much different. For example, it makes sense to expand tr log F over $i(\gamma \cdot \partial_x)$ (and it is also known how to do that), but it maybe hard to make any sense out of a randomly picked background F. The situation gets worse when going from boundary to bulk as higher spin theories are hard to interpret within the usual field theory framework. Depending on a functional class chosen for A and F_i one can end up with an empty system (all solutions are pure gauge). As we just seen in the previous section, in order to reproduce linearized theory one needs to assume that dependence of fields on the auxiliary variables Y, P, θ is such that some of the equations admit unique solutions and, at the same time, certain gauge conditions are reachable. Therefore, a proper choice of functional class is a crucial ingredient of the setup.

The definition of the functional class is almost identical to the one in [13]. The functional class \mathfrak{C} is that of polynomials in P and θ with coefficients that are formal power series in Y. Also we need \mathfrak{C} to be of finite trace order, i.e. for any $f(Y, P, \theta) \in \mathfrak{C}$ there exists an $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$(\partial_Y \cdot \partial_Y)^\ell f = 0. (5.20)$$

By definition, any given function in \mathfrak{C} can be decomposed as

$$f = f_0 + f_1^i \star F_i^0 + f_2^{ij} \star F_i^0 \star F_j^0 + \dots, \qquad f_n - \text{totally traceless}, \qquad (5.21)$$

such that the number of terms is finite. By totally traceless we mean that all possible traces in Y, P, θ vanish, i.e. f_n is in the kernel of the operators (5.19). It follows that if a, f_i, ξ, λ in (5.18) belong to the functional class (and hence admit decomposition (5.21)), then the λ gauge symmetry can be used to set a, f_i totally traceless and hence the assumption made in section 5.2 is satisfied. One concludes that with this functional class the linearized on-shell system (5.18) is well defined and indeed describes linearized Type-B theory.

For further convenience let us define a projector onto the traceless part: $\Pi f = f_0$. It is also important that \mathfrak{C} is a module over polynomials in Y, P. Hereafter we assume that A^0 as well as fluctuations a, f_i belong to \mathfrak{C} . Let us note that \mathfrak{C} is apparently not closed under multiplication and does not yet allow us to immediately discuss higher orders, which is not independent of the locality problem discussed in section 7.

5.4 Higher spin flat backgrounds

First, we define the Type-B higher spin algebra hs_B as the centralizer of F_i^0 modulo F_i^0 :

$$hs_B = \{ \mathbf{a} \in \mathfrak{C} : [\mathbf{a}, F_i^0]_\star = 0, \quad \mathbf{a} \sim \mathbf{a} + \lambda^i \star F_i^0 \}, \qquad (5.22)$$

where F_i^0 are given by (5.7). In particular, elements of hs_B are polynomials in Y. Indeed, $[\mathbf{a}, F_{++}^0]_{\star} = (P \cdot \partial_Y)\mathbf{a} = 0$ together with the assumption that all elements are polynomial in P imply that \mathbf{a} is a polynomial in Y as well. Furthermore, we can assume representatives \mathbf{a} totally traceless, i.e. $\Pi(\mathbf{a}) = \mathbf{a}$, using the equivalence relation. The above higher spin algebra is, by definition, the same as the symmetry algebra of the Dirac equation [71], i.e. the symmetry of the $i(\gamma \cdot p)$ vacuum of section 2. Almost identical oscillator realization as arises here was given in [72] (the difference is the absence of V^A -shift in the vacuum F_i^0).

The relevance of hs_B can be seen by considering more general vacuum solutions. Namely we take F_i^0 as in (5.7) but do not restrict A^0 to be at most quadratic in P, Y, θ . Assuming that A_0 belongs to \mathfrak{C} it can be represented as $A_0^0 + A_1^{0i} \star F_i^0 + \ldots$ Equations of motion (5.17) of the on-shell system then imply

$$[A_0^0, F_i^0]_{\star} = 0, \qquad \qquad dA_0^0 = \Pi(A_0^0 \star A_0^0). \qquad (5.23)$$

Note that Π in the second equation is well-defined thanks to A_0^0 being polynomial in Y, which in turn is a consequence of the first equation. We conclude that $A_0^0 = \Pi(A^0)$ is a flat connection of Type-B higher spin algebra hs_B.

Consequently, we have arrived at a family of solutions to the on-shell system (5.17) which correspond to flat connections of the Type-B higher spin algebra. These backgrounds are maximally symmetric and the symmetries are in one-to-one with the algebra hs_B and can be identified with (mixed-symmetry) Killing tensors. Indeed, the gauge symmetries preserving the vacuum solution are determined by

$$d\epsilon^{0} = [A^{0}, \epsilon^{0}]_{\star} + \lambda^{i} \star F_{i}^{0}, \qquad [F_{i}^{0}, \epsilon^{0}]_{\star} + \lambda_{i}^{j} \star F_{j}^{0} = 0. \qquad (5.24)$$

We can again decompose ϵ^0 into the trace part that is proportional to F_i^0 and the traceless part. The trace part fixes the λ 's up to an equivalence, while the traceless part is covariantly constant with respect to A^0 . Therefore, the global symmetry algebra is the Type-B higher spin algebra hs_B.

Let us now study the linearized system (5.18) taking as a background solution F_i^0 from (5.7) and taking A^0 to be a flat connection of hs_B. Assuming that fluctuations belong to \mathfrak{C} we can exploit λ -symmetry to set $\Pi(a) = a$ and $\Pi(f_i) = f_i$ and explicitly apply the trace projector Π to all the equations. The resulting system is identical to (5.8) except that all fields are traceless and Π explicitly enters the expression for the covariant derivative D_0 .

It turns out that all the steps of the analysis performed in section 5.1 do not depend on the particular choice of A^0 as all the operators involved in the reduction are determined by F_i^0 . Upon elimination of all the fields save for a, f_+ the equations of motion and gauge symmetries take the form

$$D_0 a = 0,$$
 $D_0 f_+ = [a, F_+^0]_{\star},$ (5.25a)

$$\delta a = D_0 \xi, \qquad \qquad \delta f_+ = [\xi, F_+^0]_\star, \qquad (5.25b)$$

$$[F_{-}^{0}, f_{+}]_{\star} = [F_{-}^{0}, a]_{\star} = [F_{-}^{0}, \xi]_{\star} = 0, \quad [F_{0}^{0}, f_{+}]_{\star} - f_{+} = [F_{0}^{0}, a]_{\star} = [F_{0}^{0}, \xi]_{\star} = 0, \quad (5.25c)$$

where $D_0 \bullet \equiv d \bullet - \Pi[A^0, \bullet]_{\star}$. This gives a concise formulation of the multiplet of hook-type fields propagating on the background of generic flat connection of the respective higher spin algebra.

5.5 Boundary values and holographic reconstruction

The on-shell system (5.17) was constructed starting from the ambient formulation of the background fields for a conformal fermion in *d*-dimensions. The important step was to reinterpret the ambient system in a different way by considering it in the vicinity of the hyperboloid rather than hypercone. In the parent formulation (5.17) this is made manifest by explicitly defining the theory on AdS_{d+1} space and specifying the natural vacuum in terms of the AdS-like compensator field $V, V^2 = -1$ together with a compatible o(d, 2)-connection.

If the AdS system is formulated in the ambient space approach the boundary values of the AdS fields are described by the same system considered in the vicinity of the hypercone rather than the hyperboloid. In the parent formulation, this simply corresponds to considering the same system to be defined on the *d*-dimensional conformal space and taking the conformal version of the connection and the compensator field entering the vacuum solution. More specifically, in the vacuum solution (5.7) one should take ω, V such that $V^2 = 0, \omega$ is a flat o(d, 2)-connection and ∇V^B has maximal rank (which is *d*). In this way one indeed recovers correct boundary values as was explicitly verified for free totally symmetric fields in [14, 17], and for mixed-symmetry fields in [48].¹⁷

¹⁷Mention also somewhat related unfolded approach to boundary values proposed in [73], where the boundary values are described by the free differential algebra associated to the bulk fields. However, the approach of [73] does not employ the ambient space construction and compensator field which are the crucial ingredients of the present construction.

Applying this procedure to the on-shell system (5.17) we arrive at the parent reformulation of the theory of background fields for the Dirac fermion in *d*-dimensions. This in turn can be explicitly shown to reproduce the system (2.11) that describes background fields for the Dirac fermion in *d*-dimensions upon linearization. In this way we confirm that the on-shell system (5.17) indeed has the correct boundary values.

What is less trivial is to observe that the passage between the bulk and the boundary can be explicitly done for the system linearized over generic higher spin flat connection. To see this suppose we are given a higher spin flat connection A^0 , which is defined in the bulk. Because A_0 is a polynomial in Y, P, θ it can be rewritten in terms of new variables $Y' = V + Y, P, \theta$. Moreover, the algebraic constraints $[A^0, F_i^0]_* = 0$ on A_0 can be also rewritten in terms of Y', P, θ and hence the compensator field V does not explicitly enter. After this A_0 can be pulled back to the boundary, giving a higher spin flat connections there. Then changing variables to $Y = Y' - V_{conf}, P, \theta$ but now with V_{conf} satisfying $V_{conf}^2 = 0$ one arrives at the vacuum solution in the boundary theory corresponding to a flat connection. In this way we can relate the bulk fields defined over a higher spin flat background and their associated boundary values.

It is clear from the above discussion that the on-shell system (5.17) is in some sense a consistent lift of the theory of background fields for the Dirac fermion in *d*-dimension to the (d + 1)-dimensional bulk. By this lift the off-shell background fields defined on the boundary become "on-shell" in the bulk. Note that even the very possibility of such a lift (in contrast to the reverse procedure of extracting the theory of boundary values from a given bulk theory) heavily relies on the proper ambient space formulation of the original theory in terms of the underlying constrained system. Additional important, though somewhat technical step, is the parent reformulation which makes it possible to fine-tune functional classes and to give the bulk theory interpretation in terms of fields explicitly defined in the bulk.

6 Unfolded form and Hochschild cocycle

We have already shown that linearization of the Type-B equations reproduce the expected free field content. This is an important check, although it does not probe the structure of interactions. Even a linearized system encodes nonlinear structures if it is known for a sufficiently general background. It turns out that free equations over higher spin flat backgrounds, which are maximally symmetric, contain all the nontrivial information in some sense. This can be made manifest by reformulating the system as a minimal Free Differential Algebra (FDA).

On shell system (5.17) already has a form of FDA with constraints or, which is almost the same, AKSZ sigma model and is entirely determined by the underlying Q-manifold. This is most easily seen for the off-shell version of the theory and equally well applies to the on-shell, at least at the linearized level. When the system is reformulated in terms of metric-like fields of section 4 such structures become hidden but can be recovered [62] from the BRST formulation of the system. Searching for higher spin gravity equations in the form of FDA underlies the unfolded approach [18]. In contrast to (5.17) the unfolded formulation typically operates with the minimal FDA without constraints (though the Vasiliev system [19, 74] nevertheless involves certain non-minimal extension needed to package the series in curvatures into concise expressions). Once the theory is linearized over a higher spin flat background, one can systematically eliminate generalized auxiliary fields (contractible pairs for the underlying Q-manifold) and extract the minimal FDA, which is naturally formulated in terms of the higher spin algebra (symmetry of the vacuum) and its Hochschild cocycle. These two completely fix the minimal FDA [75, 76] and also allow one (at least in principle) to reconstruct the entire nonlinear system, as a formal perturbative expansion in curvatures.

6.1 FDA over AdS background

For a generic linear system there is a systematic procedure to derive minimal unfolded formulation from the parent one [34, 62]. In BRST terms this amounts to reducing the theory to the cohomology of the target space BRST operator. For the system (5.25), this is the term $c^+[F^0_+, \bullet]_{\star}$ in the BRST operator (5.15). The reduction is then algebraically identical to the analogous reduction for totally symmetric fields, see [32, 34] for more detail.

Instead of performing the reduction in homological terms we do it explicitly in terms of component fields, and first for the AdS vacuum.¹⁸ By sightly changing notation, (5.25) can be rewritten as $(ad_{-} \equiv [F_{-}^{0}, \bullet], ad_{+} \equiv [F_{+}^{0}, \bullet], ad_{0} \equiv [F_{0}^{0}, \bullet])$

$$D_0 a = 0, \qquad \qquad \delta a = D_0 \xi, \qquad (6.1)$$

$$D_0 f_+ = -ad_+a \,, \qquad \qquad \delta f_+ = -ad_+\xi \,, \tag{6.2}$$

where the fields and gauge parameters belong to

$$ad_{-}a = ad_{-}\xi = ad_{-}f_{+} = 0,$$
 $(ad_{0})a = (ad_{0})\xi = (ad_{0} - 1)f_{+} = 0.$ (6.3)

It is clear that a part of the gauge symmetry is still algebraic and allows us to further gauge away certain components of f_+ .

It is useful to decompose the space of "functions" in P, Y, θ into $\operatorname{Ker}(ad_+) \oplus \operatorname{Coim}(ad_+)$. An alternative decomposition that we also employ is $\operatorname{Im}(ad_+) \oplus \operatorname{Coker}(ad_+)$. Note that both decompositions are not canonical. Let us then split the fields and gauge parameters accordingly as:

$$\xi = \epsilon + \widetilde{\xi}, \qquad \epsilon \in \operatorname{Ker}(ad_{+}), \qquad \widetilde{\xi} \in \operatorname{Coim}(ad_{+}), a = \omega + \widetilde{a}, \qquad \omega \in \operatorname{Ker}(ad_{+}), \qquad \widetilde{a} \in \operatorname{Coim}(ad_{+}), f_{+} = \widetilde{f} + C, \qquad \widetilde{f} \in \operatorname{Im}(ad_{+}), \qquad C \in \operatorname{Coker}(ad_{+}).$$
(6.4)

It follows that we can gauge away \tilde{f} with the help of $\tilde{\xi}$. Then, the system can be written as

$$D_0\omega = -D_0\tilde{a}\Big|_{\text{Ker}}, \qquad D_0C\Big|_{\text{Im}} = ad_+\tilde{a}, \qquad D_0C\Big|_{\text{Coker}} = 0, \qquad (6.5)$$

¹⁸In the case of totally-symmetric fields in flat space the component form of the analogous reduction was discussed in [77].

where we projected the equation for C onto the two subspaces since D_0 does not preserve our (non-canonical) gauge choice. In the last step we can express $\tilde{a} = ad_+^{-1}(...)$ from the second equation (since $ad_+\tilde{a}$ can be inverted on the $\text{Im}(ad_+)$) and substitute the solution into the first equation:

$$D_0 \omega = -D_0 \, a d_+^{-1} D_0 C \Big|_{\text{Ker}}, \qquad \qquad D_0 C \Big|_{\text{Coker}} = 0. \tag{6.6}$$

The first equation can be simplified if we assume that the decomposition (6.4) preserves Lorentz covariance. Provided such a choice has been made the Lorentz-covariant derivative ∇ part of D_0 drops out and only the translation generators P^m contribute.¹⁹ Therefore, the full system can be rewritten as

$$D_0\omega = -h_m \wedge h_n \, ad(P^m) \, ad_+^{-1} ad(P^n) \, C\Big|_{\text{Ker}}, \qquad D_0C\Big|_{\text{Coker}} = 0, \qquad (6.7)$$

where $ad(P^m) \equiv [P^m, \bullet]$. This is the right structure of free equations describing mixed-symmetry fields [32, 61, 78–83].

The above arguments do not show that the r.h.s. of $D_0\omega = \text{in } (6.7)$ is nontrivial, but we have already reproduced the correct free equations in section 5.2. If the r.h.s. of $D_0\omega =$ were trivial, ω would be equivalent to a linearized flat connection, i.e. pure gauge. Here we should note that in the unfolded formulation just constructed the free fields of section 4 reside as particular components of ω and hence getting a non-trivial equation for ω is crucial.

Finally, we note that, despite the appearance, ω and C, are isomorphic linear spaces: both ω and C can be decomposed into irreducible Lorentz tensors in the fiber space to find a doubled set of tensors of type (i.e. the independent Taylor coefficients in y^m , p^n , θ^k)

 $\bigoplus_{r,t,p} p \qquad (6.8)$

This isomorphism will be important below.

6.2 FDA over higher spin flat background

As we showed in section 5.4, the Type-B system (5.17) admits more solutions than just AdS_{d+1} . Without any change in the logic and in the formulas we can linearize the system over any flat connection:

$$dA^0 = A^0 * A^0$$
, $A^0 \in hs_B$, (6.9)

where, by somewhat abusing notation, we work in terms of fields taking values in the higher spin algebra hs_B understood as an abstract associative algebra with the product denoted by *. This is in contrast to (5.23), where hs_B was realized as a certain subquotient of the

¹⁹The translation generators are defined as $P^m = T^{m,-1}$, i.e. as the components along V^A , $T^{AB}V_B$. Likewise, $L^{mn} = T^{mn}$ and we rewrite $D_0 \bullet = \nabla \bullet -h^m[P_m, \bullet]$, where h^m is the AdS_{d+1} vielbein.

Clifford-Weyl algebra. Here we would like to stress that it makes sense to work with hs_B as an abstract associative algebra.²⁰

The steps from the previous section can literally be repeated. Indeed, the split (6.4) appeals to ad_+ , i.e. F^0_+ , and not to a particular choice of A^0 . Recall also that a, f_+ and ξ are assumed to be traceless, e.g. $\Pi(a) = a$. The only change is to replace the AdS background derivative D_0 with the A^0 background derivative $D_0 \bullet \equiv d \bullet -\Pi[A^0, \bullet]_{\star}$, where the Π -projector needs to be added. We end up with²¹

$$D_0 \omega = -ad(A^0) \, ad_+^{-1} ad(A^0) \, C \Big|_{\text{Ker}}, \qquad dC = ad(A^0) C \Big|_{\text{Coker}}, \qquad (6.10)$$

where $ad(A^0) \bullet \equiv \Pi[A^0, \bullet]_{\star}$.

Recall that ω belongs to the higher spin algebra hs_B due to (6.3) and (6.4). It is less obvious that C can also be thought of as an element of hs_B. To be precise, we claim that there exists a map ρ from the space where C takes values, (6.3), (6.4), to hs_B such that for all $\mathbf{a} \subset \mathbf{hs}_B$

$$\begin{array}{ccc} C & \stackrel{\rho}{\longrightarrow} \mathsf{C} = \rho(C) \in \mathrm{hs}_B \\ & & & \downarrow \\ & & & \downarrow \\ \Pi[\mathsf{a}, C]_\star & \stackrel{\rho}{\longrightarrow} \mathsf{a} \ast \mathsf{C} - \mathsf{C} \ast \pi(\mathsf{a}) \end{array}$$

Here, π in (6.11c) is an automorphism of the higher spin algebra induced by the automorphism of the anti-de Sitter subalgebra $\pi(L_{mn}) = L_{mn}$ and $\pi(P_m) = -P_m$. This automorphism is required to reproduce the right structure of the free equations,²² which we obtained in sections 5 and 6.1. One argument in favour of ρ is that ω and C are isomorphic as Lorentz algebra modules, (6.8). Moreover, such ρ clearly exists for $\mathbf{a} \in o(d, 2) \subset hs_B$.

Now we are ready to reformulate everything in the language of higher spin algebras. Eqs. (6.9), (6.10) for A^0 , ω and C can be recognized to have the following general structure

$$dA^0 = A^0 * A^0, (6.11a)$$

$$d\omega = A^0 * \omega + \omega * A^0 + \mathcal{V}(A^0, A^0, \mathsf{C}), \qquad (6.11b)$$

$$dC = A^{0} * C - C * \pi(A^{0}), \qquad (6.11c)$$

where by abusing the notation again we assumed that A^0 , ω take values in hs_B. Here the vertex \mathcal{V} is some trilinear map that appears in the first of (6.10). The term $A^0 * \omega + \omega * A^0$ comes from $D_0\omega$.

Equations (5.25) of section 5 or (6.9), (6.10), (6.11) describe propagation of higher spin fields of the Type-B theory over an arbitrary higher spin flat background A^0 . Indeed, this is how we obtained them from the Type-B theory as a linear approximation. As we already discussed this result is much stronger than just the check that the free Type-B

²⁰The realization via the Clifford-Weyl algebra given in section 5.4 is not the only one. One can consider symmetries of the Dirac operator [71], quasi-conformal realization [84], enveloping algebra realization [41] etc. All of them give the same h_{s_B} .

²¹Recall that the split (6.4) commutes with d and for that reason d drops out.

 $^{^{22}}$ This can be easily proved using the techniques from [85, 86], we avoid giving the technicalities here.

over AdS_{d+1} is reproduced upon linearization: knowing how fields propagate on sufficiently general backgrounds should contain some information about interactions thereof too.

The system that (6.11) is a linearization of should have the following schematic form

$$d\omega = \omega * \omega + \mathcal{V}(\omega, \omega, \mathsf{C}) + \mathcal{O}(\mathsf{C}^2), \qquad (6.12a)$$

$$d\mathbf{C} = \omega * \mathbf{C} - \mathbf{C} * \pi(\omega) + \mathcal{O}(\mathbf{C}^2).$$
(6.12b)

Consistency of (6.11) or consistency of (6.12) to order C imposes some restrictions on \mathcal{V} . To identify the restrictions and to find the structure of \mathcal{V} it is convenient to consider a slightly more general setting, where fields ω , C take values in a matrix algebra, e.g. u(M)(the appropriate reality condition has to be assumed). This step is a straightforward generalization of the analogous step known in the context of Vasiliev approach [18]. At the level of parent formulation (5.17) this corresponds to taking all the fields A and F_i also matrix-valued which does not spoil consistency of the system. In the CFT dual description, this would correspond to taking $U(M) \times U(N)$ fermions and imposing the U(N) singlet constraint, and hence having global U(M) symmetries left, so that $u(M) \times hs_B$ gets gauged in the bulk.

Given such matrix extensions the consistency of the system implies (see [75] for more detailed discussion) that \mathcal{V} have the following structure:

$$\mathcal{V}(\omega, \omega, \mathsf{C}) = \Phi(\omega, \omega) * \pi(\mathsf{C}), \qquad (6.13)$$

where $\Phi(\bullet, \bullet)$ is a Hochschild two-cocycle of the higher spin algebra:

$$\mathsf{a} * \Phi(\mathsf{b},\mathsf{c}) + \Phi(\mathsf{a} * \mathsf{b},\mathsf{c}) - \Phi(\mathsf{a},\mathsf{b} * \mathsf{c}) + \Phi(\mathsf{a},\mathsf{b}) * \pi(\mathsf{c}) = 0, \qquad \mathsf{a},\mathsf{b},\mathsf{c} \in \operatorname{hs}_B.$$
(6.14)

Heuristically, \mathcal{V} is needed to avoid triviality of flat connections. The deviation from flatness is controlled by C and higher orders in C may be required to make the full system (6.12) formally consistent. All these structures are closely related to deformation quantization and formality [75, 76, 87], which is another reason for the qualifier 'formal' in the title.

It follows the Type-B equations we propose do reproduce a nontrivial Hochschild twococycle. It is important that the linearized system (5.25) and its reductions (6.9), (6.10) and rewriting (6.11) still capture the full structure of $\mathcal{V}(\omega, \omega, \mathsf{C})$, i.e. all three arguments can be arbitrary elements of the higher spin algebra (when A^0 takes values in just $o(d, 2) \subset hs_B$ a significant part of \mathcal{V} is lost).

Finally, under quite general assumptions it can be shown [75, 76] that the deformation induced by $\Phi(\bullet, \bullet)$ is unobstructed.²³ More precisely, it can be shown that the higher order terms making (6.12) consistent to all orders exist and are unique up to the natural equivalence, so that the formally consistent unfolded system (6.12) can be constructed to all orders (at least in principle) starting from the on-shell system (5.17) proposed in this work. This supports our claim that the on-shell system (5.17) describes the Type-B higher spin gravity, at least at the formal level.

²³An interesting issue that we ignore is that different types of fermions on the boundary can lead to slightly different deformations/spectrum of fields, see e.g. [37, 38, 86]. More detail will be given elsewhere.

7 Conclusions and discussion

From AdS/CFT correspondence perspective the problem of higher spin gravity can be understood as a problem of constructing a dual of a given free CFT restricted to various bilinear operators to be understood as single-trace ones. In the paper we proposed the following general recipe to construct higher spin gravities: (i) instead of dealing with the generating functional of correlators of single-trace operators one can study a more general question of how to couple them to an arbitrary higher spin background h; (ii) the power of the higher spin symmetry is that the generating functional W[h] turns out to be completely fixed by the non-abelian infinite-dimensional gauge symmetries $\delta h = \partial \xi + \ldots$; (iii) the theory of background fields, i.e. field content and non-abelian gauge symmetries $\delta h = \ldots$, can be understood as quantum constrained system that gives a first-quantized description of a given free CFT; (iv) the constrained system can be reformulated in the ambient space where it gives the background fields on the projective cone $X^2 = 0$; (v) the same system can be then considered on the hyperboloid $X^2 = -1$ where it describes non-linear equations whose free field approximation gives the same sources h as boundary values.

Although most of the above steps are not entirely new and have been already applied in [13] to the Type-A higher spin gravity (mention also earlier developments [14, 15, 17, 56, 65]), in this work we made it more precise and used to construct a new higher spin theory rather than giving different forms of already existing ones.

There is a number of models closely related to the Type-A (Type-B) higher spin gravity that is dual to $\Box \phi = 0$ ($\partial \psi = 0$) free CFT. When both CFT's are taken on an arbitrary background for single-trace operators, partition functions are

$$e^{W_A[H_A]} = \int D\phi \, D\bar{\phi} \, e^{-\int \bar{\phi} H_A(x,\partial)\phi} \,, \qquad e^{W_B[H_B]} = \int D\psi \, D\bar{\psi} \, e^{-\int \bar{\psi} H_B(x,\partial,\gamma)\psi} \,.$$

This formal expressions require certain zeroth order value (vacuum) for $H_{A,B}$ to have welldefined expansions. The simplest choice is $H_A = -\partial^2 + \ldots$ and $H_B = i\partial + \ldots$. In these two cases the symmetries of these backgrounds correspond to higher spin currents constructed out of free boson, $\Box \phi = 0$, and free fermion, $\partial \psi = 0$, respectively. An advantage of such general treatment is that there can be other vacua. Indeed, one can expand over $H_A = (-\partial^2)^k$ and $H_B = i(-\partial^2)^k \partial$ [14, 88]. The symmetries of these vacua correspond to non-unitary free CFT's $\Box^k \phi = 0$, and $\Box^k \partial \psi = 0$, see e.g. [38, 52, 56, 89–91]. Therefore, the duals of these non-unitary CFT's correspond to different vacua for F_i fields.

An important property of our method is that the off-shell theory of background fields on the boundary and the on-shell theory in the bulk merely arise as two different vacua in one and the same system, giving an explicit realization of the duality. It is important to stress that our method is general and can be applied to any CFT (not necessarily a free one) and it would be interesting to apply it to other dualities. If the symmetries of background fields do not fix the effective action unambiguously we should find the corresponding ambiguity in the reconstruction procedure.

It is remarkable that there exists such a simple relation between the theory of background fields and the dual higher spin theory. It may not be obvious at the moment why the direct computation of correlation functions should give the correct result W[h] that would prove the duality. Nevertheless, general, but indirect, proof is possible: it can be shown that the boundary values of the AdS_{d+1} fields are exactly the source h together with the full gauge transformations that are known to completely fix W[h], [4–7].²⁴ Still, it is worth mentioning, as we discuss below, that any direct computation of correlation functions is likely to face some difficulties due to the lack of understanding of micro-locality in the context of higher spin theories. Therefore, our main assumption here is that there exists some scheme in the bulk that does not destroy a near boundary analysis of symmetries.

One can also try to understand the relation between the theory of background fields and dual higher spin theory from a more formal perspective. Indeed, these two theories are closely related because the theory on the boundary is precisely the theory of boundary values for the bulk one. At the same time a reparametrization invariant gauge theory is entirely determined by the on-shell gauge transformation (more precisely, the BRST differential defined on the stationary surface extended by ghost variables. See [62] for more detail.) but this is precisely the data encoded in the boundary theory. This gives a somewhat heuristic argument on how the bulk theory can be systematically reconstructed from the known theory of boundary values. Let us also mention that this approach is somewhat complementary to the holographic reconstruction where the vertices in the bulk are built in such a way that the correlation functions of a given CFT are reproduced through the usual AdS/CFT prescription [92–94], which is still perturbative.

A word of warning is needed about feasibility of usual field theory computations in higher spin gravities, including the one presented here. A careful analysis of the quartic interactions in the simplest Type-A higher spin gravity has revealed [93, 95, 96] that starting from the quartic order the interactions of higher spin fields become too non-local for usual field methods to work without thinking and further specification of how to deal with nonlocalities is needed. For example, sum over derivatives may not commute with sum over spins, etc. That the sum over spins is not convergent and requires regularization was also observed for one-loop determinants, see e.g. [36–38, 97–99]. Also, higher spin gravities should emerge in tensionless limits of string theory, which is unlikely to give an ordinary field theory.

Therefore, we are led to think that higher spin gravities are more stringy than it has been previously thought. While our approach shows that higher spin symmetries can fully be taken into account and a background independent description of the theory can be constructed, an attempt to dissect the interactions into sums over spins and derivatives will surely fail to give any meaningful result (except for the few terms at the lowest order)

²⁴Let us note that the uniqueness result for W[h] has been obtained under certain assumptions. Some of these assumptions correspond, in our language, to the choice of a particular vacuum: the one given by a unitary CFT. We expect that unitarity can be relaxed and all CFT's in d > 2 with higher spin currents are free. We stress that choice of a vacuum is important and tr log H is just some formal expression that should be understood as being expanded over some vacuum. Also, the uniqueness result assumes one free parameter, the number of fields N. Large-N expansion is trivial in free CFT's: N just gives the relative ratio between connected and disconnected contributions to the full correlation functions. On the AdS_{d+1} side it is important to assume the bulk coupling constant, which is of order 1/N, to be small, the latter justifies quasi-classical expansion.

unless a proper regularization is found. An appropriate stringy way to deal with higher spin gravities is yet to be found. Nevertheless, as our method takes into account the full non-abelian gauge symmetry of boundary sources that fixes completely the effective action, we can argue that the AdS/CFT duality follows automatically at least at the tree level.

An interesting feature of the approach advocated in the paper is that the models can be truncated to lower spins. This is certainly possible in the effective action as there is no prior need to introduce sources for anything that goes beyond the stress-tensor multiplet. However, once at least one higher spin source is introduced we will have to add all of them as to make the effective action gauge invariant. The initial system of equations is off-shell in this sense and truncation to lower spin sector is possible, which is not anymore possible once we go on-shell by factoring out configurations proportional to the fields themselves.

Finally, we would like to remind that in even dimensions the effective action W[h] has a log-divergent part $W_{\log}[h]$ to be identified with higher spin conformal anomaly [26, 27], see also [28, 29, 100]. By itself, this local part $W_{\log}[h]$ can be used to define Type-B conformal higher spin theory on the boundary. Also, the same $W_{\log}[h]$ should be obtained from the effective action on the AdS_{d+1} side.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Kostya Alkalaev for collaboration at the early stage of this project. We are also grateful to Xavier Bekaert, Ivo Sachs, Alexey Sharapov, Cedric Troessaert, Arkady Tseytlin, Sasha Zhiboedov for useful discussions. The work of M.G. was supported by the DFG Transregional Collaborative Research Centre TRR 33 and the DFG cluster of excellence "Origin and Structure of the Universe" and by the RFBR grant 18-02-01024. The work of E.S. was supported by the Russian Science Foundation grant 14-42-00047 in association with the Lebedev Physical Institute.

A Going to symmetric base

Here we prove the ambient space version of the statement. The version we need in section 2 is obtained by relaxing the constraints (4.12a)-(4.12c) and assuming all fields and parameters totally traceless.

Consider the ambient space system (4.12), (4.13). One can check that the gauge condition $(\theta \cdot \partial_P)f_+ = 0$ is reachable. The gauge condition simply says that f_+ is associated to Young diagram of hook shape in the antisymmetric basis: one can choose the component fields to be anti-symmetric in the indices corresponding to the first column and symmetric in the rest of the indices. Then, the Young symmetry condition is exactly $(\theta \cdot \partial_P)f_+ = 0$

Indeed, if $(\theta \cdot \partial_P)f_+ = \alpha$ let us take $\xi = -\frac{1}{N}\alpha$, where $N = \theta \cdot \partial_\theta + P \cdot \partial_P$. Note that ξ satisfy the constraints above. It follows,

$$\theta \cdot \partial_P (s - \frac{1}{N} (p \cdot \partial_\theta - \theta \cdot \partial_X) \alpha) = \alpha - \frac{1}{N} N \alpha + \frac{1}{N} (\theta \cdot \partial_P) (\theta \cdot \partial_X) \alpha, \qquad (A.1)$$

where we used $(\theta \cdot \partial_P)\alpha = 0$. Iterating the procedure we arrive at the gauge condition $(\theta \cdot \partial_P)f_+ = 0$.

In this gauge one can employ the Poincare Lemma in the θ , *P*-space and express f_+ as $f_+ = (\theta \cdot \partial_P)\psi$ in terms of the new generating function ψ . Note that ψ can be assumed to satisfy $(P \cdot \partial_{\theta})\psi = 0$, i.e. the Young condition in symmetric basis.

Let us analyze the residual symmetries in some more detail: let us decompose the space of \mathcal{H} of polynomials in θ , p (without 1) as a direct sum $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}^{\parallel} \oplus \mathcal{H}^{\perp}$ where $\mathcal{H}^{\parallel} = \ker(\theta \cdot \partial_P)$ and $\mathcal{H}^{\perp} = \ker(P \cdot \partial_{\theta})$. Decompose the gauge variation as:

$$\theta \cdot \partial_X \xi^{\parallel} + (\theta \cdot \partial_X \xi^{\perp})^{\parallel} + (\theta \cdot \partial_X \xi^{\perp})^{\perp} - P \cdot \partial_\theta \xi^{\parallel} .$$
 (A.2)

Vanishing of the \perp contribution implies $(\theta \cdot \partial_X \xi^{\perp})^{\perp} - P \cdot \partial_{\theta} \xi^{\parallel} = 0$. It is clear that this determines ξ^{\parallel} uniquely. Moreover, for ξ^{\perp} homogeneous in p, θ , resulting ξ^{\parallel} is proportional to $(\theta \cdot \partial_P)(\theta \cdot \partial_X)\xi^{\perp}$ and hence the first term in the gauge variation (A.2) vanish thanks to nilpotency of $\theta \cdot \partial_X$. Finally, the gauge variation takes the form:

$$\delta f_{+} = (\theta \cdot \partial_X \xi^{\perp})^{\parallel} \tag{A.3}$$

The variation of ψ is then proportional to:

$$P \cdot \partial_{\theta} ((\theta \cdot \partial_X \xi^{\perp})^{\parallel}) = P \cdot \partial_{\theta} ((\theta \cdot \partial_X \xi^{\perp}) = P \cdot \partial_X \xi^{\perp}, \qquad (A.4)$$

giving the standard gauge law in symmetric basis. Finally, analyzing constraints on ψ, ξ^{\perp} one finds that these are precisely (4.10), where $f_S = \psi$ and $\xi_S = \xi^{\perp}$. Moreover, if in addition f_+, ξ are subject to the analog of (4.13) then the resulting f_S, ξ_S also satisfy (4.9).

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- B. Sundborg, Stringy gravity, interacting tensionless strings and massless higher spins, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 102 (2001) 113 [hep-th/0103247] [INSPIRE].
- [2] E. Sezgin and P. Sundell, Massless higher spins and holography, Nucl. Phys. B 644 (2002) 303 [Erratum ibid. B 660 (2003) 403] [hep-th/0205131] [INSPIRE].
- [3] I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, AdS dual of the critical O(N) vector model, Phys. Lett. B 550 (2002) 213 [hep-th/0210114] [INSPIRE].
- [4] J. Maldacena and A. Zhiboedov, Constraining Conformal Field Theories with A Higher Spin Symmetry, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214011 [arXiv:1112.1016] [INSPIRE].
- [5] V. Alba and K. Diab, Constraining conformal field theories with a higher spin symmetry in d = 4, arXiv:1307.8092 [INSPIRE].
- [6] N. Boulanger, D. Ponomarev, E.D. Skvortsov and M. Taronna, On the uniqueness of higher-spin symmetries in AdS and CFT, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 28 (2013) 1350162
 [arXiv:1305.5180] [INSPIRE].
- [7] V. Alba and K. Diab, Constraining conformal field theories with a higher spin symmetry in d > 3 dimensions, JHEP **03** (2016) 044 [arXiv:1510.02535] [INSPIRE].

- [8] I.R. Klebanov and E. Witten, AdS/CFT correspondence and symmetry breaking, Nucl. Phys. B 556 (1999) 89 [hep-th/9905104] [INSPIRE].
- [9] E. Sezgin and P. Sundell, Holography in 4D (super) higher spin theories and a test via cubic scalar couplings, JHEP 07 (2005) 044 [hep-th/0305040] [INSPIRE].
- [10] R.G. Leigh and A.C. Petkou, Holography of the N = 1 higher spin theory on AdS_4 , JHEP 06 (2003) 011 [hep-th/0304217] [INSPIRE].
- S. Giombi and X. Yin, On Higher Spin Gauge Theory and the Critical O(N) Model, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 086005 [arXiv:1105.4011] [INSPIRE].
- [12] X. Bekaert, E. Joung and J. Mourad, Comments on higher-spin holography, Fortsch. Phys.
 60 (2012) 882 [arXiv:1202.0543] [INSPIRE].
- [13] X. Bekaert, M. Grigoriev and E.D. Skvortsov, Higher Spin Extension of Fefferman-Graham Construction, Universe 4 (2018) 17 [arXiv:1710.11463] [INSPIRE].
- [14] X. Bekaert and M. Grigoriev, Higher order singletons, partially massless fields and their boundary values in the ambient approach, Nucl. Phys. B 876 (2013) 667
 [arXiv:1305.0162] [INSPIRE].
- [15] M. Grigoriev, Off-shell gauge fields from BRST quantization, hep-th/0605089 [INSPIRE].
- M. Grigoriev and A. Waldron, Massive Higher Spins from BRST and Tractors, Nucl. Phys. B 853 (2011) 291 [arXiv:1104.4994] [INSPIRE].
- [17] X. Bekaert and M. Grigoriev, Notes on the ambient approach to boundary values of AdS gauge fields, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214008 [arXiv:1207.3439] [INSPIRE].
- [18] M.A. Vasiliev, Consistent Equations for Interacting Massless Fields of All Spins in the First Order in Curvatures, Annals Phys. 190 (1989) 59 [INSPIRE].
- [19] M.A. Vasiliev, Closed equations for interacting gauge fields of all spins, JETP Lett. 51 (1990) 503 [INSPIRE].
- [20] M.A. Vasiliev, Higher spin gauge theories: Star product and AdS space, hep-th/9910096 [INSPIRE].
- [21] J.M. Maldacena, The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- [22] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253
 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].
- [23] S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109] [INSPIRE].
- [24] A.G. Nikitin, Generalized killing tensors of arbitrary rank and order, Ukr. Math. J. 43 (1991) 734.
- [25] M.G. Eastwood, Higher symmetries of the Laplacian, Annals Math. 161 (2005) 1645 [hep-th/0206233] [INSPIRE].
- [26] A.Y. Segal, Conformal higher spin theory, Nucl. Phys. B 664 (2003) 59 [hep-th/0207212]
 [INSPIRE].
- [27] A.A. Tseytlin, On limits of superstring in $AdS_5 \times S^5$, Theor. Math. Phys. **133** (2002) 1376 [hep-th/0201112] [INSPIRE].

- [28] X. Bekaert, E. Joung and J. Mourad, Effective action in a higher-spin background, JHEP 02 (2011) 048 [arXiv:1012.2103] [INSPIRE].
- M. Grigoriev and A.A. Tseytlin, On conformal higher spins in curved background, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 125401 [arXiv:1609.09381] [INSPIRE].
- [30] C. Fefferman and C. Graham, Conformal Invariants, Astérisque, Numero Hors Serie (1985) 95–116.
- [31] C.R. Graham, R. Jenne, L.J. Mason and G.A.J. Sparling, Conformally invariant powers of the laplacian, i: Existence, J. Lond. Math. Soc. s2-46 (1992) 557.
- [32] G. Barnich and M. Grigoriev, Parent form for higher spin fields on anti-de Sitter space, JHEP 08 (2006) 013 [hep-th/0602166] [INSPIRE].
- [33] X. Bekaert and M. Grigoriev, Manifestly conformal descriptions and higher symmetries of bosonic singletons, SIGMA 6 (2010) 038 [arXiv:0907.3195] [INSPIRE].
- [34] G. Barnich, M. Grigoriev, A. Semikhatov and I. Tipunin, Parent field theory and unfolding in BRST first-quantized terms, Commun. Math. Phys. 260 (2005) 147 [hep-th/0406192]
 [INSPIRE].
- [35] M. Beccaria and A.A. Tseytlin, Higher spins in AdS₅ at one loop: vacuum energy, boundary conformal anomalies and AdS/CFT, JHEP 11 (2014) 114 [arXiv:1410.3273] [INSPIRE].
- [36] S. Giombi, I.R. Klebanov and A.A. Tseytlin, Partition Functions and Casimir Energies in Higher Spin AdS_{d+1}/CFT_d, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 024048 [arXiv:1402.5396] [INSPIRE].
- [37] S. Giombi, I.R. Klebanov and Z.M. Tan, The ABC of Higher-Spin AdS/CFT, Universe 4 (2018) 18 [arXiv:1608.07611] [INSPIRE].
- [38] M. Günaydin, E.D. Skvortsov and T. Tran, Exceptional F(4) higher-spin theory in AdS_6 at one-loop and other tests of duality, JHEP 11 (2016) 168 [arXiv:1608.07582] [INSPIRE].
- [39] K. Alkalaev, FV-type action for AdS₅ mixed-symmetry fields, JHEP 03 (2011) 031 [arXiv:1011.6109] [INSPIRE].
- [40] N. Boulanger, E.D. Skvortsov and Yu. M. Zinoviev, Gravitational cubic interactions for a simple mixed-symmetry gauge field in AdS and flat backgrounds, J. Phys. A 44 (2011) 415403 [arXiv:1107.1872] [INSPIRE].
- [41] N. Boulanger and E.D. Skvortsov, Higher-spin algebras and cubic interactions for simple mixed-symmetry fields in AdS spacetime, JHEP 09 (2011) 063 [arXiv:1107.5028]
 [INSPIRE].
- [42] N. Boulanger, D. Ponomarev and E.D. Skvortsov, Non-abelian cubic vertices for higher-spin fields in anti-de Sitter space, JHEP 05 (2013) 008 [arXiv:1211.6979] [INSPIRE].
- [43] R. Bonezzi, O. Corradini, E. Latini and A. Waldron, Quantum Gravity and Causal Structures: Second Quantization of Conformal Dirac Algebras, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 121501 [arXiv:1505.01013] [INSPIRE].
- [44] D. Anselmi, Higher spin current multiplets in operator product expansions, Class. Quant. Grav. 17 (2000) 1383 [hep-th/9906167] [INSPIRE].
- [45] K. Alkalaev, Mixed-symmetry tensor conserved currents and AdS/CFT correspondence, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214007 [arXiv:1207.1079] [INSPIRE].
- [46] S. Giombi, V. Kirilin and E. Skvortsov, Notes on Spinning Operators in Fermionic CFT, JHEP 05 (2017) 041 [arXiv:1701.06997] [INSPIRE].

- [47] K. Alkalaev, Massless hook field in AdS(d+1) from the holographic perspective, JHEP 01 (2013) 018 [arXiv:1210.0217] [INSPIRE].
- [48] A. Chekmenev and M. Grigoriev, Boundary values of mixed-symmetry massless fields in AdS space, Nucl. Phys. B 913 (2016) 769 [arXiv:1512.06443] [INSPIRE].
- [49] P.A. Dirac, Wave equations in conformal space, Annals Math. 37 (1936) 429.
- [50] R. Marnelius, Manifestly Conformal Covariant Description of Spinning and Charged Particles, Phys. Rev. D 20 (1979) 2091 [INSPIRE].
- [51] K.B. Alkalaev, Global and local properties of AdS₂ higher spin gravity, JHEP 10 (2014) 122 [arXiv:1404.5330] [INSPIRE].
- [52] T. Basile, X. Bekaert and N. Boulanger, Flato-Fronsdal theorem for higher-order singletons, JHEP 11 (2014) 131 [arXiv:1410.7668] [INSPIRE].
- [53] R. Howe, Transcending classical invariant theory, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 2 (1989) 535.
- [54] R. Howe, Remarks on classical invariant theory, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 313 (1989) 539.
- [55] G.T. Horowitz, J.D. Lykken, R. Rohm and A. Strominger, A Purely Cubic Action for String Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 57 (1986) 283 [INSPIRE].
- [56] K.B. Alkalaev, M. Grigoriev and E.D. Skvortsov, Uniformizing higher-spin equations, J. Phys. A 48 (2015) 015401 [arXiv:1409.6507] [INSPIRE].
- [57] I. Bars, Survey of two time physics, Class. Quant. Grav. 18 (2001) 3113 [hep-th/0008164]
 [INSPIRE].
- [58] R. Bonezzi, E. Latini and A. Waldron, Gravity, Two Times, Tractors, Weyl Invariance and Six Dimensional Quantum Mechanics, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 064037 [arXiv:1007.1724]
 [INSPIRE].
- [59] R. Bonezzi, O. Corradini and A. Waldron, Is Quantum Gravity a Chern-Simons Theory?, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 084018 [arXiv:1407.5977] [INSPIRE].
- [60] R.R. Metsaev, Arbitrary spin massless bosonic fields in d-dimensional anti-de Sitter space, Lect. Notes Phys. 524 (1999) 331 [hep-th/9810231] [INSPIRE].
- [61] K.B. Alkalaev and M. Grigoriev, Unified BRST description of AdS gauge fields, Nucl. Phys. B 835 (2010) 197 [arXiv:0910.2690] [INSPIRE].
- [62] G. Barnich and M. Grigoriev, First order parent formulation for generic gauge field theories, JHEP 01 (2011) 122 [arXiv:1009.0190] [INSPIRE].
- [63] M. Grigoriev, Parent formulation at the Lagrangian level, JHEP 07 (2011) 061 [arXiv:1012.1903] [INSPIRE].
- [64] M. Alexandrov, A. Schwarz, O. Zaboronsky and M. Kontsevich, The geometry of the master equation and topological quantum field theory, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 12 (1997) 1405 [hep-th/9502010] [INSPIRE].
- [65] M. Grigoriev, Parent formulations, frame-like Lagrangians and generalized auxiliary fields, JHEP 12 (2012) 048 [arXiv:1204.1793] [INSPIRE].
- [66] H. De Bie and F. Sommen, Spherical harmonics and integration in superspace, J. Phys. A 40 (2007) 7193 [arXiv:0705.3148] [INSPIRE].
- [67] C. Luo, Structure of polynomial representations for orthosymplectic Lie superalgebras, arXiv:1001.3474 [INSPIRE].

- [68] R. Lavicka and V. Soucek, Fischer decomposition for spinor valued polynomials in several variables, arXiv:1708.01426.
- [69] G. Barnich, G. Bonelli and M. Grigoriev, From BRST to light-cone description of higher spin gauge fields, Ann. U. Craiova Phys. 15 (2005) 1 [hep-th/0502232] [INSPIRE].
- [70] K.B. Alkalaev, M. Grigoriev and I. Yu. Tipunin, Massless Poincaré modules and gauge invariant equations, Nucl. Phys. B 823 (2009) 509 [arXiv:0811.3999] [INSPIRE].
- [71] A.G. Nikitin, A complete set of symmetry operators for the dirac equation, Ukr. Math. J. 43 (1991) 1287.
- [72] M.A. Vasiliev, Higher spin superalgebras in any dimension and their representations, JHEP 12 (2004) 046 [hep-th/0404124] [INSPIRE].
- [73] M.A. Vasiliev, Holography, Unfolding and Higher-Spin Theory, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214013 [arXiv:1203.5554] [INSPIRE].
- [74] M.A. Vasiliev, Nonlinear equations for symmetric massless higher spin fields in (A)dS(d), Phys. Lett. B 567 (2003) 139 [hep-th/0304049] [INSPIRE].
- [75] A.A. Sharapov and E.D. Skvortsov, Formal higher-spin theories and Kontsevich-Shoikhet-Tsygan formality, Nucl. Phys. B 921 (2017) 538 [arXiv:1702.08218]
 [INSPIRE].
- [76] A.A. Sharapov and E.D. Skvortsov, *Hochschild cohomology of the Weyl algebra and Vasiliev's equations*, arXiv:1705.02958 [INSPIRE].
- [77] M.A. Vasiliev, Actions, charges and off-shell fields in the unfolded dynamics approach, Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. 3 (2006) 37 [hep-th/0504090] [INSPIRE].
- [78] K.B. Alkalaev, O.V. Shaynkman and M.A. Vasiliev, On the frame like formulation of mixed symmetry massless fields in (A)dS(d), Nucl. Phys. B 692 (2004) 363
 [hep-th/0311164] [INSPIRE].
- [79] N. Boulanger, C. Iazeolla and P. Sundell, Unfolding Mixed-Symmetry Fields in AdS and the BMV Conjecture: I. General Formalism, JHEP 07 (2009) 013 [arXiv:0812.3615]
 [INSPIRE].
- [80] N. Boulanger, C. Iazeolla and P. Sundell, Unfolding Mixed-Symmetry Fields in AdS and the BMV Conjecture. II. Oscillator Realization, JHEP 07 (2009) 014 [arXiv:0812.4438] [INSPIRE].
- [81] E.D. Skvortsov, Gauge fields in (A)dS(d) within the unfolded approach: algebraic aspects, JHEP 01 (2010) 106 [arXiv:0910.3334] [INSPIRE].
- [82] E.D. Skvortsov, Gauge fields in (A)dS(d) and Connections of its symmetry algebra, J. Phys. A 42 (2009) 385401 [arXiv:0904.2919] [INSPIRE].
- [83] K. Alkalaev and M. Grigoriev, Unified BRST approach to (partially) massless and massive AdS fields of arbitrary symmetry type, Nucl. Phys. B 853 (2011) 663 [arXiv:1105.6111] [INSPIRE].
- [84] S. Fernando and M. Günaydin, Massless conformal fields, AdS_{d+1}/CFT_d higher spin algebras and their deformations, Nucl. Phys. B 904 (2016) 494 [arXiv:1511.02167] [INSPIRE].
- [85] C. Iazeolla and P. Sundell, A Fiber Approach to Harmonic Analysis of Unfolded Higher-Spin Field Equations, JHEP 10 (2008) 022 [arXiv:0806.1942] [INSPIRE].

- [86] T. Basile, X. Bekaert and E. Joung, Twisted Flato-Fronsdal Theorem for Higher-Spin Algebras, arXiv:1802.03232 [INSPIRE].
- [87] A.A. Sharapov and E.D. Skvortsov, Noncommutative deformation quantization via injective resolutions, arXiv:1803.10957 [INSPIRE].
- [88] X. Bekaert and M. Grigoriev, Higher-Order Singletons and Partially Massless Fields, Bulg. J. Phys. 41 (2014) 172.
- [89] E.D. Skvortsov and M.A. Vasiliev, Geometric formulation for partially massless fields, Nucl. Phys. B 756 (2006) 117 [hep-th/0601095] [INSPIRE].
- [90] E. Joung and K. Mkrtchyan, Partially-massless higher-spin algebras and their finite-dimensional truncations, JHEP 01 (2016) 003 [arXiv:1508.07332] [INSPIRE].
- [91] C. Brust and K. Hinterbichler, Partially Massless Higher-Spin Theory II: One-Loop Effective Actions, JHEP 01 (2017) 126 [arXiv:1610.08522] [INSPIRE].
- [92] X. Bekaert, J. Erdmenger, D. Ponomarev and C. Sleight, Towards holographic higher-spin interactions: Four-point functions and higher-spin exchange, JHEP 03 (2015) 170 [arXiv:1412.0016] [INSPIRE].
- [93] X. Bekaert, J. Erdmenger, D. Ponomarev and C. Sleight, Quartic AdS Interactions in Higher-Spin Gravity from Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 11 (2015) 149
 [arXiv:1508.04292] [INSPIRE].
- [94] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, Higher Spin Interactions from Conformal Field Theory: The Complete Cubic Couplings, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 181602 [arXiv:1603.00022]
 [INSPIRE].
- [95] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, *Higher spin gauge theories and bulk locality: a no-go result*, arXiv:1704.07859 [INSPIRE].
- [96] D. Ponomarev, A Note on (Non)-Locality in Holographic Higher Spin Theories, Universe 4 (2018) 2 [arXiv:1710.00403] [INSPIRE].
- [97] S. Giombi and I.R. Klebanov, One Loop Tests of Higher Spin AdS/CFT, JHEP 12 (2013) 068 [arXiv:1308.2337] [INSPIRE].
- [98] J.-B. Bae, E. Joung and S. Lal, One-loop test of free SU(N) adjoint model holography, JHEP 04 (2016) 061 [arXiv:1603.05387] [INSPIRE].
- [99] E.D. Skvortsov and T. Tran, AdS/CFT in Fractional Dimension and Higher Spin Gravity at One Loop, Universe 3 (2017) 61 [arXiv:1707.00758] [INSPIRE].
- [100] R. Bonezzi, Induced Action for Conformal Higher Spins from Worldline Path Integrals, Universe 3 (2017) 64 [arXiv:1709.00850] [INSPIRE].